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FOREWORD

The cultural landscape of the Marin Headlands is home to a sophisticated

system of defenses that once protected the great harbor of San Francisco from

the post-Civil War years through the Cold War. Park visitors encounter history
through surviving elements of this system in a tangible way, the defensive features
preserved amidst an otherwise natural setting; gun positions and parade grounds
framing iconic views to the city. This compelling landscape may be appreciated
through its setting of great natural beauty, its handsome post buildings, hulking
concrete and earth-covered gun batteries, and navigational aids. These and less
monumental elements including roads, fire-control stations, searchlight shelters,
and World War II foxholes serve as local manifestations of wars that had a global
reach. Located amidst the serenity of the Pacific Ocean and the San Francisco Bay,
this landscape honors those who gave their lives defending the United States; their
names forevermore recorded as Fort Baker, Fort Barry, and Fort Cronkhite; names
of yet more war heroes pressed into the once moist concrete of gun batteries, and

more names applied to roads, all beckoning us to remember.

The Cultural Landscape Report for Forts Baker, Barry, and Cronkhite, Golden
Gate National Recreation Area, Volume I: Site History will be of enduring service
to current and future stewards of this complex landscape. John Auwaerter, with
the support of park staff, park partners, and university students and colleagues,
has done outstanding work in narrating the story of this complex landscape,
pulling together many once-forgotten details of vast military systems and the
underlying cultural and natural systems that extend over nearly 2,700 acres.

The well-illustrated narrative and detailed plans, which have been available to
the park for some time, have already been of great use in guiding rehabilitation
projects, informing interpretation, and revealing the historic military identity and
commemorative associations of the three military reservations. This report will
be followed by a second volume making recommendations for preservation and

enhancement of the landscape’s historic character and significant features.

On behalf of myself and park staff, we acknowledge this exceptional work, and
offer our thanks to John and his partners at the NPS Northeast Region’s Olmsted
Center for Landscape Preservation and the State University of New York
College of Environmental Science and Forestry, particularly Bob Page and
George W. Curry. We are grateful for the collective effort that has brought

this report to its successful and impressive conclusion.

Aaron Roth
Acting Superintendent

Golden Gate National Recreation Area
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INTRODUCTION

Figure 0.1. The Forts Baker, Barry,

and Cronkhite landscape looking
east from near Point Bonita with
the Golden Gate Bridge and San
Francisco in the distance, November
2009. (SUNY ESF)

INTRODUCTION

he headlands at the rugged southern end of the Marin Peninsula

along the straights of the Golden Gate have been shaped by a long

history of agricultural, navigational, recreational, and military use. The
three-mile-long expanse, from San Francisco Bay to the Pacific Ocean, was his-
torically occupied by Fort Baker, Fort Barry, and Fort Cronkhite—three related
reservations of the U.S. Army that covered more than 2,700 acres. Intimately tied
to the growth of San Francisco into one of the country’s most important ports,
this cultural landscape remains a well-preserved example of a historic harbor
defense installation that illustrates changes in military strategy and technology
from the post-Civil War period
through the Cold War. Seacoast
batteries, fire-control stations,
Nike missile installations, mili-
tary housing complexes, road
networks, and navigational aids
remain within a natural setting
of high ridges, rocky cliffs, roll-
ing hills, sand beaches, chapar-
ral, oak woods, and grasslands.
Panoramic views of the San
Francisco skyline and other dis-
tant prospects in the Bay Area
dominate the dramatic coastline
of the Golden Gate (fig. 0.1). As
part of Golden Gate National
Recreation Area, the three
former military reservations are today a popular destination for tourists and local
residents, used for a wide range of activities from conservation, heritage tourism,
and luxury accommodations, to hiking, biking, dog walking, and youth education.
The National Park Service works with numerous partner organizations to manage

this large and complex landscape.

This site history, the first volume of the Cultural Landscape Report for Forts Baker,
Barry, and Cronkhite, traces the development and use of the landscape from the
time that it was home to native peoples through European settlement, military de-
velopment, and most recently, conservation as public parkland. While the National
Park Service has undertaken numerous studies of the district in the past, this is the
first to focus on the cultural landscape across all three historic military reservations.
This history provides the basis for existing conditions documentation, evaluation of

historic significance, and treatment planning in Volume II of the Cultural Landscape

1



CurruraL LANDSCAPE REPORT FOR FORTS BAKER, BARRY, AND CRONKHITE, VOLUME I

Report. Together, the entire report will aid ongoing efforts by the park and its part-
ners to preserve and enhance the landscape’s historic character, defined by many

layers of natural and cultural history.

PROJECT SCOPE, ORGANIZATION, AND METHODS

In the National Park Service, a Cultural Landscape Report is the principal treat-
ment document for historic landscapes and the primary tool for their long-term
management. The park service defines a cultural landscape as a geographic area
that includes both built and natural resources, and is associated with a historic
event, activity, or person.' A cultural landscape, defined by the interactions of
people with the natural environment, includes not only landforms, roads, walks,
and vegetation, but also buildings, views, and small-scale features, as well as less

tangible uses and associations.

The project area for this report is the landscape within the historic boundaries of
Forts Baker, Barry, and Cronkhite as they existed at the height of military devel-
opment during World War II. Included within this district are areas historically
managed and developed by the Coast Guard and other agencies through lease
arrangements with the U.S. Army. All of the land within the 1945 limits of the
three military reservations is today part of Golden Gate National Recreation Area,
although thirty-nine acres at Point Bonita and two acres at Point Diablo remain
under Coast Guard jurisdiction, but are anticipated for transfer to the National

Park Service in the future.

This report has been developed according to methods outlined in A Guide to
Cultural Landscape Reports: Contents, Process, and Techniques (National Park
Service, 1998), and synthesizes documentation in numerous prior studies while
also incorporating new primary research.? It provides a comprehensive histori-
cal overview of Forts Baker, Barry, and Cronkhite that evaluates the cultural
landscape holistically, including its ranching, military, navigational, recreational,
and natural resources. It is not a comprehensive history of the site, but rather a
chronicle of physical changes in landscape use and character. Historic contexts
pertaining to the strategy, administration, armament, and garrisoning of the San
Francisco coastal defenses are addressed only to the extent they inform the history
of the landscape. A similar approach also applies to the history of Native Ameri-
cans, navigation aids, and ranching at the headlands. These contexts are well

documented in several existing historic resource studies.’

Due to the large size and complexity of the district, this report omits some de-
tails of use and development in favor of emphasizing the broad patterns, major
developments, changes in use and ownership, and shifts in landscape character.
Additional details on the physical development and use of the landscape are

documented in cultural landscape reports and historic structure reports that focus
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on small areas within the headlands. To date, these completed reports address the
main post, marine repair facility, and Kirby Cove area at Fort Baker; the rifle range,
balloon hangar, Nike SF-88 launch site, Bird Island Overlook, and Point Bonita
area at Fort Barry; and the Rodeo Beach wetlands at Fort Cronkhite (see Appen-

dix C for a list of these documents).

The site history is organized into five periods defined by changes in land use and
landscape character based on documented historic contexts. These include the
period prior to American takeover of California in 1846; the initial period of
American military ownership and development between 1846 and 1890; the En-
dicott-Taft period between 1890 and the U.S. entry into World War Iin 1917; the
period from World War I through the end of World War II in 1945; the Cold War
period from 1945 to the establishment of Golden Gate National Recreation Area
in 1972; and finally, the time from park establishment to the present (2015) during
National Park Service administration. The body of each historical period consists
of a narrative of the physical development of the landscape that is followed by a
summary of the landscape changes organized by landscape characteristics, includ-
ing natural systems, spatial organization, circulation, vegetation, buildings and

structures, and small-scale features.

At the end of each period are plans for each of the three military reservations that
depict landscape changes over the course of the period. These plans were devel-
oped from a combination of historic maps and plans, historic photographs, field
inventory, the park’s GIS data, and current aerial photographs. A plan is not in-
cluded for the pre-1846 period due to lack of documentation. Detail plans for the
main posts, Fort Cronkhite cantonment, and Bonita Ridge area provide additional

documentation on these highly developed areas.

Research for this report has been undertaken at an overall “thorough” level of in-
vestigation as defined by NPS DO-28, focusing on secondary sources and primary
materials, mostly Army building records, photographs, and plans in the Park Ar-
chives and Records Center at the Presidio, which includes materials copied from
the National Archives.* Other repositories consulted were the park historian’s files
at Fort Mason, the Sausalito Historical Society, the San Francisco Public Library,
and the Coastal Defense Study Group online and printed materials. Research also
included consultation with historians who are experts in the military and cultural
history of the Marin Headlands.

PROJECT SETTING

Forts Baker, Barry, and Cronkhite, which together comprise a historic district
listed in the National Register of Historic Places, are located at the headlands of
the Marin Peninsula along the north side of the Golden Gate across from San

Francisco, extending from San Francisco Bay on the east to the Pacific Ocean on
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the west (fig. 0.2). Fort Baker is at the southeastern side of the headlands, and Fort
Barry occupies the southwestern part. Fort Cronkhite is north of Fort Barry and

extends north along the Pacific coastline.

Forts Baker, Barry, and Cronkhite are located within two units of Golden Gate
National Recreation Area: the Fort Baker unit, the part of the historic Fort Baker
reservation east of US 101, and the Marin Headlands unit, the western part of
Fort Baker reservation and all of Forts Barry and Cronkhite (see fig. 0.2). The
Marin Headlands unit also includes a large area of former ranch lands north of
the historic district extending toward Muir Woods National Monument that are
not part of this study. Across the Golden Gate is Presidio that was historically the
Army’s headquarters in the region. To the west of the Presidio along the Golden
Gate are the Baker Beach, China Beach, and Lands End units of the park, with
Ocean Beach along San Francisco’s Pacific frontage. To the south is Fort Funston
and lands in San Mateo County. East of the Presidio is Fort Mason, location of
the park’s administrative offices. Together, these units comprise an expansive park

system that conserves much of the Golden Gate and adjoining Pacific coastlines.
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Most of Forts Baker, Barry, and Cronkhite consists of undeveloped land (fig. 0.3).
The San Francisco Bay side is characterized by relatively low elevations and two
promontories, Yellow Bluff and Cavallo Point, the latter defining the natural har-
bor of Horseshoe Cove that transitions to a rocky shoreline terminating at Lime
Point beneath the shadow of the Golden Gate Bridge. The shoreline of the Golden
Gate features two large coves, Kirby Cove on the east and Bonita Cove on the
west, divided by Point Diablo that marks the boundary between Forts Baker and
Barry. On the ridge above Diablo Point is Hawk Hill, the highest point along the
Golden Gate. The western entrance to the Golden Gate is formed by Point Bonita,

along, rocky promontory separating Bonita Cove from the Pacific Ocean.

The mostly steep and rocky coastline along the Pacific features two main prom-
ontories, Bird Island and Tennessee Point to either side of Rodeo Beach, a sandy
bar at the head of Rodeo Lagoon, the only natural inland water body within the
three forts. North of Tennessee Point is Tennessee Cove at the head of Tennessee
Valley, one of three main valleys within or adjoining the district. The other two are
Rodeo Valley, which forms the northern boundary of Forts Barry and Baker, and
Gerbode Valley, which extends northeast from Rodeo Valley.
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Historic military development consists primarily of roads, clusters of fortifications
along the coastlines, housing and administration buildings, and other infrastruc-
ture such as reservoirs and power stations. There are also aids to navigation,
notably the Point Bonita lighthouse, and contemporary park trails, campgrounds,
picnic areas, and parking lots. The primary vehicular access is by the Golden Gate
Bridge and US 101, the Redwood Highway that links San Francisco with its north-
ern suburbs. The first exit off US 101 is Alexander Avenue (Sausalito Lateral),
which provides access to Fort Baker and Sausalito, a small city north of Fort Baker
along San Francisco Bay with a population of approximately 7,000. Direct access
between Fort Baker and Sausalito is by East Road that parallels the bay shoreline.
Forts Barry and Cronkhite are accessed from Fort Baker by two roads: Conzel-
man Road that parallels the Golden Gate, and Bunker Road on the inland side

in Rodeo Valley (see fig. 0.3). To reach Fort Barry, Bunker Road passes through

a tunnel beneath the highlands west of US 101. Both roads provide access to the
Marin Headlands visitor center, the Point Bonita lighthouse, Rodeo Beach, an
overlook at Bird Island, and a YMCA conference center. The northern end of the
Fort Cronkhite reservation at Tennessee Valley is not accessible by vehicle from
the rest of the historic district, but is connected by trails. Access to Tennessee Val-
ley is from Tennessee Valley Road, a public road accessible from US 101 at Marin

City north of Sausalito.

Each of the three forts has a central administrative and housing area known as a
main post or cantonment (see fig. 0.3). The Fort Baker main post is located in a val-
ley, facing San Francisco in the distance. Most of the buildings and grounds were
recently redeveloped in partnership with the private sector as CavalloPoint: The
Lodge at the Golden Gate, which features luxury accommodations, restaurants,
and conference space. To the south along Horseshoe Cove are a contemporary
Coast Guard station, the Bay Area Discovery Museum, and a private yacht club.
The smaller Fort Barry main post, home to the Headland Center for the Arts and
a branch of Hostelling International, is at the western end of Bunker Road in a
sheltered valley facing Rodeo Lagoon. The nearby Cronkhite cantonment, home
to park offices and Nature Bridge, a center for nature education formerly known
as the Headlands Institute, faces the north side of the lagoon. Northeast of the
Cronkhite cantonment is the Marine Mammal Center, a contemporary facility

constructed at the site of a Nike missile installation.

HISTORICAL OVERVIEW

The phenomenal growth of San Francisco that began in 1848 with the Gold Rush
was due in large part to its large natural harbor, entered from the Pacific through
the Golden Gate. To the south, the sheltered and relatively gentle topography of
the San Francisco peninsula was ideal for a city, but the rugged and steep coastline
to the north was less hospitable. On these northern headlands, long home to the

Coast Miwok people and then Mexican ranchers, the United States set aside a vast
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military reservation in 1850 to protect the West Coast’s most important harbor.
For the next century, this protection involved the development of seacoast de-
fenses and navigational aids, but by the latter twentieth century, federal steward-
ship shifted toward conservation of the headlands for their scenic, recreational,

and historical value.

BEFORE THE MILITARY, TO 1846

At the time of European contact in the eighteenth century, the Marin Peninsula
had been home to the Coast Miwok people for generations. They lived in small
villages and fished, gathered, and hunted, and mostly likely managed the land to
enhance its productivity, resulting in a dominant grassland character. Follow-

ing their arrival into San Francisco Bay in 1775, Spanish colonists established a
fort and mission on the south side of the Golden Gate and began to convert the
native people to Catholicism. In 1817, missionaries settled on the Marin Penin-
sula, which the Spanish called Saucito (later spelled Saucelito or Sausalito), and
began to alter the landscape through introduction of grazing and other European
agricultural practices. Following the loss of control to Mexico in 1822, maritime
commerce increased and a port named Sausalito was established on the bay side
of the peninsula. At this time, most of the headlands was acquired by an English
immigrant, Captain William Antonio Richardson, who named his nearly 20,000-
acre tract, Rancho Saucelito. By 1846, the landscape within the future Forts Baker,
Barry, and Cronkhite remained primarily grassland with trees and shrubs in the
valleys and along the shoreline of the bay. The present site of the Fort Baker main

post was known as Plaza de los Caballos (Place of the Horses).

EARLY MILITARY DEVELOPMENT, 1846-1890

In 1850, four years after American takeover of California and two years after the
start of the Gold Rush, President Millard Fillmore issued an executive order estab-
lishing a military reservation along the entire stretch of headlands from Sausalito
to the Pacific Ocean, encompassing 1,899 acres. At the time, the land remained
part of the privately owned Rancho Sausalito, which Captain Richardson had con-
veyed to an American businessman, Samuel Throckmorton. Not until 1866 did the
government finally acquire title to the military reservation. During the intervening
years, the federal government completed a lighthouse and keeper’s dwelling in
1855 on a ridge overlooking Point Bonita under a presumed informal agreement

with Throckmorton.

Following acquisition of the land in 1866, the U.S. Army proceeded with plans
to erect fortifications to protect the inner harbor entrance within the later limits
of Fort Baker. Beginning in 1867, the Army constructed a complex of support
buildings and a wharf at a sheltered valley on the east side of Lime Point, where

the Golden Gate Bridge viaduct was later built. At this time, site preparation was
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begun for a Third System fort at the tip of Lime Point, but the project was halted
in favor of constructing four dispersed earthen barbette batteries. Completed

between 1870 and 1876, these batteries— Gravelly Beach (Kirby Cove), Cliff and
Ridge (later Battery Spencer), and Cavallo, were designed for Rodman guns, but
only one was emplaced. The batteries stood vacant for the next two decades due

to lack of appropriations.

In the decades after the Civil War, the U.S. Lighthouse Board made a number of
improvements to its facilities at Point Bonita, including construction of road and
wharf to access a steam-powered fog signal at the tip of the point. This signal
building was completed in 1872 and rebuilt in 1875 following damage from land-
slides. In 1876, Congress appropriate funds to move the 1855 lighthouse from Bo-
nita Ridge to the tip of Point Bonita so that the light would be visible in high fogs.
Construction of the new lighthouse, which featured the relocated lantern from the
old lighthouse, was completed in 1877. The old tower was retained as a daymark.
Other improvements at Point Bonita during this time included construction of

a second house for the lighthouse keepers completed in ca. 1875, and addition

of barns and sheds. At Lime Point, the Lighthouse Board completed another fog

signal station in 1883, complete with a two-story brick keepers’ dwelling.

Samuel Throckmorton and his heirs sold off Rancho Sausalito in several tracks
following the Civil War. At the future Fort Cronkhite, these include a 540-acre
parcel bordering Rodeo Lagoon sold in 1881 to a horse rancher, ]. B. Haggin, who
leased it to dairy rancher Louis Gioli. The property included a ranch house and
barn in the valley northwest of the lagoon. North of the Haggin property at Ten-
nessee Valley were other tenant dairy ranches that the Tamalpais Land and Water

Company had acquired from Rancho Sausalito in 1889.

ENDICOTT-TAFT MODERNIZATION, 1890-1917

In 1890, the Army began a massive national modernization of its harbor defenses
following recommendations of the Endicott Board, appointed by President Cleve-
land in 1885 under the lead of Secretary of War William Crowninshield Endicott.
At San Francisco, this modernization, which created much of the landscape that
endures today, saw the redesignation of the Lime Point Military Reservation as
Fort Baker in 1897, and establishment of Fort Barry on the west half in 1904. Plans
for development of Fort Barry led the Army to complete a connecting road with
Fort Baker in ca. 1901. The landscape across the headlands remained primarily
grassland, with woods and scrub along the bay front and drainage corridors. The
Army introduced exotic vegetation, primarily eucalyptus and Monterey cypress
trees near some of the batteries. Iceplant was established as a stabilizing ground-

cover around some of the defensive works.

The Endicott modernization included construction of new batteries, reconstruc-

tion of existing batteries, and addition of secondary defense elements. To build
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these works, Army engineers reoccupied the 1867 camp at Fort Baker in ca. 1894,
and built a second camp next to the Point Bonita lighthouse keepers’ dwellings in
1901 for construction of the new defenses at Fort Barry. The Endicott improve-
ments maintained Fort Baker as the stronghold of the inner harbor, and added
anew line of defenses in the outer harbor at Fort Barry. The large-caliber gun
batteries, which featured massive concrete emplacements and earthen parapets,
included batteries Spencer (1897), Duncan (1899), Kirby (1900), and Yates (1905)
at Fort Baker; and Mendell (1905), Smith-Guthrie (1904), Alexander (1905),
Rathbone-McIndoe (1905), and O’Rorke (1905) at Fort Barry. Four remote fire-
control stations were built near the batteries at Fort Baker, and a variety of support
buildings were erected, including powerhouses and latrines. Development of
submarine mine defenses led to construction of a mine casemate (1895) at Fort
Baker servicing a minefield in San Francisco Bay, and another (1908) at Fort Barry

for a minefield in the Pacific.

To service the Endicott defenses, the Army built roads, buildings, and permanent
posts with barracks, offices, and hospitals at both Baker and Barry. Fort Baker’s
main post, largely completed between 1902 and 1905, was built in the large
U-shaped valley north of Horseshoe Cove, and featured Colonial Revival-style
officer quarters, barracks, a gymnasium, post exchange, and an administration
building facing onto a central parade ground. A side road (Kober Street) to the
north was lined by additional housing and terminated at the post hospital. A target
range was laid out nearby in ca. 1905. The grounds were planted with windbreaks
of Monterey pine and cypress, and roadside eucalyptus and acacia trees. Off the
southeast end of the main post was the Quartermaster area with its maintenance
shops, stables, and storehouses. The Quartermaster wharf (site of current mine
wharf) was built well to the southwest on Horseshoe Cove, near the engineer

camp.

The first post facilities at Fort Barry were a collection of temporary buildings

and tent grounds laid out in a U-shaped valley south of Rodeo Creek (present
site of Balloon hangar). This camp served a rifle range built in 1904 in the adjoin-
ing valley to the east, which served as a training facility for the Army’s Western
Department. Permanent facilities at Fort Barry followed the same pattern as those
at Fort Baker, but on a smaller scale. Its main post, completed between 1905 and
1907, was situated in a similar, U-shaped valley southeast of Rodeo Lagoon, with
Colonial Revival-style barracks, officer quarters, administration building, and a
hospital facing a central open area used partly as a parade ground. A windbreak
of eucalyptus was planted on the hillside behind the buildings, and the main road
(Simmonds Road) was lined by Monterey cypress trees and other plantings. Due
to the small size of the valley, several officer quarters, the gymnasium, and post
exchange were built to the west of the main complex at the west end of the valley.
The Quartermaster area, with its cluster of eleven buildings completed by 1907,
was built still farther away, at the south end of a valley between Battery Alexander

and the main post (present Three Sisters and Upper Fisherman’s parking lot).
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The military’s Taft Board, established in 1905 by Secretary of War William How-
ard Taft, called for a new round of modernization for the nation’s harbor defenses
stemming largely from advances in communications and electrical power. Taft-era
improvements at the headlands included the addition of numerous fire-control
stations and searchlights to illuminate the submarine minefields. At Fort Baker, six
new fire-control stations, searchlights at Lime Point and Cavallo Point, and two
powerhouses for generating electricity were added between 1907 and 1912. At
Fort Barry, the Army added ten fire-control stations, searchlights at Bonita Cove,
Point Bonita, and Bird Island, and two powerhouses between 1905 and 1917. The
Taft modernization also led the Army to acquire the five-acre Tennessee Point
Military Reservation in 1914 (within later Fort Cronkhite), where two fire-control
stations, two searchlights, and two powerhouses were erected in 1915. Access
was by a government right-of-way from Fort Barry through a dairy ranch that had

been acquired by Antoine Borel, a San Francisco financier, from J. Haggin in 1892.

Navigation aids at the headlands also underwent big changes during this period.
These included establishment of the Point Bonita Life-Saving Station in 1899
along Bonita Cove, east of the lighthouse keepers’ dwellings. It featured a promi-
nent Shingle-style station building and three secondary buildings, and boathouses
on Bonita Cove and south of Rodeo Beach. These were replaced by a single boat-
house built along Bonita Cove in 1912. The lighthouse station was improved with
anew fog signal building erected below the lighthouse in 1903, two new keepers’
dwellings built in 1908, and a school in 1912.

WORLD WAR | TO WORLD WAR II, 1917-1945

The advent of World War I in Europe led the U.S. Army to plan another mod-
ernization program for its harbor defenses in 1915. To prepare for improvements
at Fort Barry, the Army began work in 1917 on a tunnel (Baker-Barry Tunnel) to
provide a more direct connection with Fort Baker in place of the winding road
over Diablo Ridge (Julian Road). The program led to construction of just one new
defensive work, Battery Wallace begun in 1917 on a ridge south of Battery Alex-
ander. Two fire-control stations were also added on Point Bonita, and temporary
war-time buildings, including a mess hall, barracks, and officer quarters, were
constructed at the Fort Barry main post and scattered elsewhere across the res-
ervation. The World War I years also witnessed construction of Navy facilities on
and near Bird Island for ship-to-shore radio communication, and shift of the line
of defenses away from the inner harbor. This led to disarming of batteries Orlando

Wagner and Duncan in 1917.

During the years between World War I and the build-up to World War II, the
Army made few major changes to its defenses at the headlands, except for the ad-
dition of a balloon hangar at the site of the rifle range camp in 1921, a fire-control
station for Battery Wallace completed in 1921, and an anti-aircraft battery on
Rodeo Hill to the east of Battery Wallace completed in 1925. Many of the post
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facilities were shuttered, with changes limited to addition of a small Mission-style
building at Fort Baker and demolition of the temporary World War I buildings at
Fort Barry. Changes to navigational aids included the addition of small electric
beacons at Point Diablo in 1922 and Yellow Bluff at Fort Baker in the late 1930s.
The Lighthouse Service erected a tall radio tower to the rear of the Point Bonita

lighthouse in 1938, a year before the agency was reorganized as the Coast Guard.

Construction during the early and mid-1930s at the headlands was dominated by
the Golden Gate Bridge, with its north tower situated at Lime Point. Completed
in 1937, the bridge also included construction of US 101 along the hillside above
the Fort Baker main post, a tunnel through the ridge north of the post, and a
lateral access road (Alexander Avenue) to Sausalito from US 101 to East Avenue.
The 1930s also saw other civilian public works at the headlands, including the
construction of a camp for the Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC) along Bunker
Road (present Capehart Housing Area), garages and stone walls at the Baker and

Barry main posts, and lengthening of the Baker-Barry tunnel.

The biggest change to the headlands landscape during this period came with es-
tablishment of Fort Cronkhite in 1937 on 801 acres of ranchland north of Rodeo
Lagoon. The new military reservation, which absorbed the five-acre Tennessee
Point Military Reservation, was created to accommodate construction of Battery
Townsley, one of the harbor’s two largest gun batteries. To prepare for construc-
tion, the Army built a new access road (Bunker Road) that connected with Fort
Barry across a causeway in Rodeo Lagoon. The new battery was completed in
1940 on a hill above Tennessee Point and required six fire-control stations, includ-

ing two on Wolf Ridge.

As construction of Battery Townsley was underway, the Army issued plans in
1937 for a massive modernization program in a document entitled “Annexes to
the Harbor Defense Project, Harbor Defenses of San Francisco.” Implementation
of this program was accelerated following declaration of the Limited National
Emergency in 1939, and the pending entry of the U.S. into World War II. At the
headlands, the program included completion of a mine depot at Fort Baker in
Horseshoe Cove, a new anti-aircraft battery on Wolf Ridge, and construction of

new fire-control stations.

The years of the Limited National Emergency between 1939 and 1941 also wit-
nessed extensive development of temporary post facilities to accommodate troop
mobilization. At Fort Baker, this included construction of barracks and a chapel
at the main post and the Station Hospital along the Horseshoe Cove waterfront.
At Fort Barry, the CCC camp was expanded into the West Portal Housing Area,
several new buildings were added to the main post, and two new housing com-
plexes were built: the Mendell Housing Area near Battery Mendell, and the Smith
Housing Area in Rodeo Valley. At Fort Cronkhite, a large cantonment was built

along the north side of Rodeo Lagoon.
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The approach of U.S. entry into World War II not only brought many troops, but
also construction of field fortifications, including foxholes, trenches, and mobile
anti-aircraft gun emplacements scattered throughout the headlands at strategic
locations such as high ridges and near housing areas. The defensive works re-
ceived camouflage, or “protective concealment” from enemy aircraft, including
netting, plantings, fake rock covers, and dummy buildings and roads. With U.S.
entry into the war on December 7, 1941, the threat of Japanese attack along the
West Coast appeared imminent, and defenses at the headlands went on high alert.
As troops went into position, barbed-wire entanglements and barbed-wire fences
were erected along beaches to prevent enemy landing and additional anti-aircraft
field emplacements were set up. Temporary dug-in field quarters known as hut-
ments were built near Anti-Aircraft Battery #1 on Wolf Ridge, and at Battery
Smith-Guthrie and Battery Rathbone-McIndoe. The Army continued with its
modernization program begun in 1937 with construction of a new battery on
Diablo Ridge known as Battery Construction 129, and modernization of Battery
Wallace. Fire-control stations were added and improved, including the addition
of a mine station at remote Tennessee Cove in Fort Cronkhite. Other fixed arma-
ment installed during World War II addressed the threat attacks on the submarine
mine defenses. This included construction of AMTB (anti motor torpedo boat)
batteries at Bonita Cove, Kirby Cove, Horseshoe Cove, and Cavallo Point. Radar
stations designed to detect enemy aircraft were installed on Wolf Ridge and Point

Bonita Ridge.

COLD WAR ADAPTATION, 1945-1972

With the end of World War II in 1945, the Army began a period of transition to

the changed conditions of the Cold War, with long-range antiballistic defenses
replacing the old coastal guns of the Endicott and Taft periods. Although the Army
issued a plan in November 1945 calling for modernization of the coastal defenses
at San Francisco, within several years it had abandoned all of the old works for
defensive purposes. The submarine minefields were transferred to the Navy in
1949, leading to scrapping of the last seacoast guns in San Francisco. Much of the
headlands grew quiet, except for training uses by the Army Reserves. Some of the
facilities, including Battery Construction 129 and the mine defenses in Tennessee

Valley, were transferred to Navy use.

With the outbreak of the Korean War in the early 1950s, the Army activated two
anti-aircraft batteries at the headlands: Position No. 81 near Battery Mendell, and
Position No. 10 near the World War II-era Anti-Aircraft Battery #1 on Wolf Ridge.
These were soon replaced by a new system of long-range anti-ballistic defenses
under Project Nike, which required relatively small areas of land in comparison
with the earlier harbor defenses. The headlands received two Nike sites: SF-87
and SF-88, each with three component sites including a launch area, control

(radar) area, and an administrative area. The SF-87 site, completed in 1955,
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contained its administrative area in the Fort Cronkhite cantonment and its launch
area north of the Fort Cronkhite parade ground. The control area was built on top
of Battery Construction 129 (Hawk Hill) on the Baker-Barry boundary. The east
wing of the cantonment was demolished for a new Nike administration complex
of flat-roofed cinderblock buildings completed in 1966. The SF-88 site, also com-
pleted in 1955, contained its administrative area in the Mendell Housing Area, and
its launch area was in an undeveloped area between Battery Alexander the former
Fort Barry Quartermaster area. The control site was built on the eastern end of
Wolf Ridge in Fort Cronkhite. The Mendell housing was replaced with a new Nike

administration-building complex in 1965.

During the Cold War, the Army maintained most of its post facilities at the head-
lands, with the exception of those removed for the Nike administration areas in
the mid-1960s. In 1959, new housing was added to Forts Baker and Barry as part
of the Capehart Housing Act, intended to address shortage of adequate housing
for military personnel. Constructed by private developers, the new ranch-style
housing included thirty-five units built on the hillsides surrounding the Fort
Baker main post, and sixty-three units at Fort Barry in place of the World War
II-era West Portal Area. The Coast Guard made major changes to its facilities as its
need for staffing diminished in an increasingly automated era. During the 1960s,
it demolished the Life-Saving Station main building and three keepers’ dwell-
ings at Point Bonita, and the keepers’ dwelling at Lime Point. Additions included
a pedestrian suspension bridge to the Point Bonita lighthouse in 1954, and two
ranch-style houses at the Life-Saving Station in 1961.

As the Army’s need for land at the headlands declined during the Cold War, it
transferred and sold large tracts. These included 192 acres at Tennessee Valley
transferred to the Navy in 1956; 146 acres in the northern part of Fort Baker to the
state of California in 1961; 222 acres on Wolf Ridge to the Coast Guard in 1965; 39
acres at Point Bonita to the Coast Guard in 1966; and 338 acres along the Golden
Gate in Forts Baker and Barry to the State of California in 1967. The Navy sold its
Tennessee Point property to the state between 1961 and 1964, which together with
the other two tracts sold by the Army formed Marin Headlands State Park. The
state made few improvements to the park during this period, aside from develop-

ment of a day use area and campground at Kirby Cove.

TRANSITION TO A NATIONAL PARK, 1972-PRESENT

In the 1960s and early 1970s, development pressures, military land disposition, and
expansion of the National Park System led to establishment of Golden Gate Na-
tional Recreation Area in 1972. The park, spearheaded by a strong grass-roots parks
movement and Congressman Phillip Burton, was created to preserve the natural,
historic, scenic, and recreational values of the headlands and other lands in San
Francisco and Marin Counties totaling over 34,000 acres. The legislation did not

instantly open the park to the public, but rather set forth a process of land transfer
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to the National Park Service. At the headlands, the initial legislation transferred

all Army owned land in Forts Barry and Cronkhite, and land in Fort Barry west of
US 101 (West Fort Baker), which together became the Marin Headlands unit of
the park. The Army was allowed to continue use of certain portions of the Marin
Headlands unit. Following deactivation of Nike SF-87 and 88, the Army completed
transfer of management to the park in 1974. The park service added the Marin
Headlands State Park parcels to Golden Gate National Recreation Area in 1978.

The 1972 park legislation called for all Coast Guard and remaining Army land

in Fort Baker to be transferred to the National Park Service once it was declared
surplus. The Coast Guard transferred its Wolf Ridge, Yellow Bluff, and Lime
Point properties to the park between ca. 1978 and 1985. The Army transferred its
remaining property in East Fort Baker to the park in three parcels between 1985
and 2002. As of 2015, Point Bonita and Point Diablo remain under Coast Guard

jurisdiction.

The National Park Service opened a visitor center for the Marin Headlands vat
the Fort Cronkhite cantonment in 1974. Much of the open space was converted to
recreational uses, with built improvements largely limited to parking lots, hiking
trails, and a single campground established to the rear of Battery Wallace in 1976.
Because there were many more buildings than needed, the park service issued
permits for non-park use and entered into partnerships with organizations that
shared a similar mission. These included the Presidio Riding Club at Fort Barry,
which predated the park; the Marine Mammal Center at the Fort Cronkhite
cantonment in 1975, joined by the Headlands Institute in 1977; the YMCA Point
Bonita conference center at the SF-88 administration area in 1977; and Hostelling
International at the Fort Barry main post in 1978, joined by the Headlands Center
for the Arts in 1982. With acquisition of portions of East Fort Baker in 1985, the
park permitted the Coast Guard to build a new station along Horseshoe Cove that
was completed in 1990, and entered into a partnership with the Bay Area Discov-
ery Museum, which opened in the former Quartermaster area in 1991. The park
also allowed the Travis Sailing Center (formerly the Presidio Yacht Club) founded
in ca. 1960 to continue operating at Horseshoe Cove. After the Army transferred
the remaining parts of Fort Baker to the National Park Service in 2002, the park
partnered with the private sector to rehabilitate the main post into a resort and
conference center, “Cavallo Point: The Lodge at the Golden Gate.” The lodge was
designed as a partner venue for the Institute at the Golden Gate, a program of the
Golden Gate National Parks Conservancy that advances environmental preserva-

tion and global sustainability.

Over its more than four decades of management, the National Park Service over-
saw a number of changes in the Marin Headlands unit, notably demolition of the
Smith Housing Area at Fort Barry, and completion of the Marine Mammal Center
headquarters complex at the Fort Cronkhite SF-87 launch area. At the Fort Baker
unit, the Army demolished the Station Hospital prior to transfer of the property
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to the park. The CavalloPoint Lodge project at Fort Baker, which was completed
in 2008, rehabilitated the pre-1940 buildings and parade ground, demolished the
1959 Capehart housing, and erected thirteen new lodge buildings in their place.
Small changes throughout the headlands included addition of park signs, roadside
overlooks, picnic tables, and campsites; conversion of Army roads to trails; and
construction of new trail segments and visitor parking lots. Beginning in 2011, a
comprehensive road improvement project was begun to increase safety, improve
operations, and repair deteriorated infrastructure. Changes included new black
asphalt pavement, addition of guiderails and drainage structures, and redesigned

intersecctions, parking areas, scenic overlooks, and trailheads.

There were also many unmanaged changes in the landscape after 1972 that
changed the cultural landscape in subtle, but far-reaching ways. These included
spread of Monterey pine, Monterey cypress, and eucalyptus woods, death of
Monterey pine due to blight, and a landslide on Wolf Ridge that destroyed part of
Bunker Road and two fire-control stations. Many of the remote defensive struc-

tures were also impacted by vandalism and deterioration.®

NOTES, INTRODUCTION

1 Robert Page, Cathy Gilbert, and Susan Dolan. A Guide to Cultural Landscape Reports: Contents, Process, and Techniques,
(Washington D.CA. : U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service, Park Historic Structures and Cultural
Landscapes Program, 1998), 129.

2 These prior studies include a cultural landscape report that was completed in 2005 for the Fort Baker main post in
anticipation of its redevelopment as the CavalloPoint Lodge.

3 These reports include Anna Coxe Toogood, A Civil History of Golden Gate National Recreation Area and Point Reyes
National Seashore, California (1980), Erwin N. Thompson, Historic Resource Study, Seacoast Fortifications San Francisco
Harbor, Golden Gate National Recreation Area (1979), and Erwin N. Thompson, Historic Resource Study, Forts Baker,
Barry, Cronkhite of Golden Gate National Recreation Area (1979).

4 According to NPS-28: Cultural Resource Management, a “thorough” level of investigation is defined as reviewing
“published and documentary sources of known or presumed relevance that are readily accessible without extensive travel
and that promise expeditious extraction of relevant data, interviewing all knowledgeable persons who are readily available,
and presenting findings in no greater detail than required by the task directive.” The other two levels of investigation are
“exhaustive” and “limited.”

5 These include Steve Haller, Historian, Golden Gate National Recreation Area and John Martini, Historical Consultant,
Fairfax, California, as well as members of the Coast Defense Study Group, http://www.cdsg.org/.

6 The park service completed a new General Management Plan for Golden Gate Natioanl Recreation Area in 2012 that
sets forth guidelines for use and treatment of the cultural landscape at the headlands, including several projects presently
underway on roads, visitor amenities, and partner facilities.
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CHAPTER 1: PrE-1846

1. BEFORE THE MILITARY, TO 1846

The dramatic natural landform of the Marin Headlands has been the dominant
characteristic of the cultural landscape for millennia, with its sheer cliffs rising to
high ridges over the waters of the Golden Gate and Pacific Ocean (fig. 1.1). The
beauty of this natural passageway captivated early European explorers, such as
the French trader August Duhaut-Cilly, who entered the Golden Gate in January
1827:

The morning of the 26" we had, at last, clear weather; and as soon as it was light,
we made out the entrance to San Francisco [Presidio], distant about three leagues...
the northern coast [Marin Headlands] presented steep walls of rock of a violet
color; and the southern coast, lower [San Francisco peninsula], was composed

of sand-dunes mixed with large scattered rocks, some of which projected a few

hundred metres into the sea, at the entrance to the channel.!

The origins of this natural landscape trace back to between 200 and 80 million years
ago, deep underwater in the primordial Pacific Ocean. Here, marine sediments and
volcanic eruptions of molten rock formed thick bedrock on the ocean floor that
migrated very slowly eastward, where it deformed as the ocean plate moved beneath
the North American plate. Although the region experienced several periods of major
upheaval, the most recent occurred approximately three to four million years ago,
when the primordial Marin Mountains were uplifted from the seafloor as the two

plates collided. These forces crumpled the once horizontal strata of bedrock into giant

Figure 1.1. A ca. 1840 French lithograph of the Golden Gate looking east from the Pacific, showing dominance of the Marin Headlands

(mountains at left). The original drawing was made during the voyage of the frigate “Venus” between 1836 and 1839. (Detail, Ménard, Vue
de I'entrée de la Baie de San Francisco, ca. 1840, courtesy of The Bancroft Library, University of California, Berkeley, BANC PIC 1963.002:0546-B)
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wave-like folds. The edge of uplifted bedrock, known as thrust faults, created multiple

ridges across headlands.?

After this period of upheaval, the ground became relatively stable, but underwent
along period of erosion and continued fracturing. During the last ice age, when
ocean levels were low and the coastline was well west of its present location,
meltwaters from glaciers in the Sierras flowed down the Sacramento and San
Joaquin Rivers and through a canyon at the Golden Gate, along the south edge

of the Marin Mountains. With the melting of the glaciers approximately 10,000
years ago, ocean levels rose and flooded the canyon to form San Francisco Bay in a
wide interior valley. The high waters submerged a portion of the Marin Mountains
and isolated them into a peninsula. The undercutting force of the waves against
the coastline created landslides, resulting in sheer cliffs (fig. 1.2). Hard, erosion-
resistant rock formed promontories such as Bird Island and Points Bonita, Diablo,

and Cavallo.?

Yellow Bluff

~MARIN.-HEADLANDS =

“e RodeeValley

‘Wolf Ridge

Figure 1.2. A nineteenth-century bird’s-eye view of the Marin Headlands looking east from Point Bonita showing landforms and other
natural features identified by current names. The illustration does not show Tennessee Cove in the northern part of Fort Cronkhite. (Detail,
G. H. Goddard, “Birds Eye View of the City of San Francisco and Surrounding Country,” Britton & Ray, 1868, Library of Congress digital ID
pm00370, annotated by SUNY ESF)
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Figure 1.3. A painting of Native
Americans illustrating the
landscape around the Golden
Gate, possibly near present-day
Lime Point, showing grasslands on
upper elevations and scrublands or
woods along valleys and coastal
margins, ca. 1815. The Marin
Headlands at the time remained
the homeland of the Coast Miwok.
(“Bateau du port de San Francisco,”
lithograph of a painting by Louis
Choris, courtesy of The Bancroft
Library, University of California,
Berkeley, image fG420.K84C6.1822
Part 3, Plate X)

The raised sea levels and centuries of weathering softened the topography into the
Marin hills of today. Small perennial and intermittent streams drained the land-
scape, fed by numerous springs on the inland hills. The major streams drained into
valleys that opened onto coves, two on the Pacific Coast (Rodeo and Tennessee)
and three along the Golden Gate (Bonita, Kirby, and Horseshoe). Ocean currents
deposited sands along these coves, blocking inland valleys that had been flooded
during the post-glacial sea level rise, creating marshes and inland lagoons (see fig.
1.2). Some of the sand collected inland, forming dunes along the Pacific coastline

near Rodeo Beach.

COAST MIWOK HONIELAND

Although much of the natural landscape appears forbidding when viewed from
the Pacific and Golden Gate, the Marin Peninsula supported human culture for
thousands of years prior to the first European settlements in the Bay Area in

the eighteenth century. The earliest evidence of human habitation on the Marin
Peninsula, found along the hospitable shores of San Francisco Bay, dates back
more than 5,000 years. For centuries, the region was the home of the Coast Miwok
people, whose population ranged from an estimated 1,500 to 10,000 prior to
European contact in the eighteenth century. Among the Coast Miwok’s several
independent tribes were the Huimen, who lived in the southern part of the Marin

Peninsula and included the headlands within their homeland.*

The Coast Miwok lived primarily off a diet of fish, shellfish, nuts, greens, berries,
and game. As with other Native American people in the bay area, the Coast Miwok
hunted elk, deer, rabbits, and fowl with bows and obsidian-tipped arrows, and
fished the rich bayside estuaries from canoes made from long marsh reeds (fig.
1.3). The Coast Miwok lived in conical houses framed with poles and sheathed

in bark and grasses, generally in hamlets consisting of extended family units.’

These hamlets were mostly located

along the bay or eastern side of the
peninsula. The closest known Hui-
men settlement to the headlands

was Liwanelowa, near present-day

Sausalito.® On the interior, in shel-

tered valleys alongside streams and
lagoons, the Coast Miwok estab-
lished seasonal camps. Although
they relied heavily on waterways
for transportation, the Coast
Miwok also created networks of
paths and trails, generally following

streams and ridges.”
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The character of the California coast experienced by European settlers in the
eighteenth century, with its grasslands, scattered trees, park-like forests, and abun-
dant game, was in many cases the result of centuries of tending by Native Ameri-
can people, as well as natural disturbance such as fire caused by lightning strikes.®
While they did not practice agriculture in the European sense, Native American
people in California enhanced the productivity of the land by burning, harvesting,
tilling, pruning, sowing, and tending.” Among many practices, the Coast Miwok
trimmed and shaped oak branches to create broad, short trees that allowed acorns
to be in easy reach, and managed willow to produce straight branches for basketry.
Burning enhanced forage for game, seed production, and soil regeneration, while
maximizing views for hunting. Controlled burns were so widespread a practice in
California that in 1783 Governor Arrillaga ordered Spanish missions to prohibit
them.!® The extent to which these practices altered the landscape of the Marin
Headlands is not known for certain, but most likely enhanced an open character
dominated by grasslands and shrublands, with wooded margins along the coast

and streams (see fig. 1.3).

Higher elevation grasslands, known as coastal prairie, were characterized by pe-
rennial broad-leaved herbs and grasses including Douglas iris, California poppys,
blue-eyed-grass, red fescue, purple needlegrass, and California oatgrass. Grass-
lands in the valleys were often dominated by bunchgrasses, miniature lupine, blue
dicks, stinkbells, clovers, goldfields, fiddleneck, and yellow carpet. Shrublands
included coastal scrub and chaparral (Spanish for short woody vegetation) on

dry south-facing slopes. Chaparral consisted of a wide variety of plant species,
often dominated by tough-leaved evergreens including manzanita, chamise, scrub
oak, and ceanothus. Sheltered coastline and inland streams were often lined by
deciduous woods that included coast live oak, willow, alder, and maples. Marshes
occurred along Rodeo Lagoon and on the San Francisco Bay side of the peninsula,
where California cord-grass, pickelweed, jaumea, and arrow-grass, and California
sea-blite were found. Forests of redwood and Douglas fir grew in sheltered, inland
valleys and along higher elevations where fogs eased summer droughts, mostly
north of the headlands."

August Duhaut-Cilly described this variety of plant communities on the Marin
Peninsula during his trip in January 1827, as he observed from his ship traveling

south toward the Golden Gate along the Pacific coast:

The coast was formed of vertical rocks whose base, fortified by scattered rocks,
seemed only with an effort to resist the violence of the waves lashed into torrents
of foam. Above the wall of rock began the very steep slope of lofty mountains
crowned with fir trees. In the narrow valleys left among them were seen, in
addition, thick woods of these trees, mixed with live oaks; but all the rest was

covered only with a yellowish and hardly living grass.'
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SPANISH AND MEXICAN SETTLEMENT

While explorers may have encountered the Coast Miwok as early as the sixteenth
century, European settlement in the San Francisco Bay area did not begin until
two centuries later. In 1775, Jose Carnizares made the first survey of San Francisco
Bay, sailing the San Carlos through the Golden Gate and lending the ship’s name
to an inner point along the north side of the straits, later known as Lime Point (fig.
1.4).1

Point Bonita §

Pacific Ocean

Point Lobos

Castillo de San
Joaquin (1794)

.
k.1
‘ ( ‘7‘\'\#" ,‘ Not to scale

The Spanish military and Roman
Catholic missionaries arrived in
the bay the year following the

San Carlos, settling on the San

Francisco peninsula, whose gen-

San Francisco tler terrain was better suited to

Bay . .
L 3 o o building and agriculture than the
1

steep headlands along the north
side of the Golden Gate. Here
in the homeland of the Ohlone,

<.

?Presidio of San

Francisco (1776

—Yerba Buena cove
the Spanish military established
Mission

San Francisco
de Asis (1776)

a presidio (fort) to guard the
entrance to the bay (see fig. 1.4).
i South of the Presidio, the mis-

0 sionaries established Mission San

Figure 1.4. An early nineteenth-
century map showing location of
the presidio and mission of San
Francisco and other features in
relation to the Marin Headlands.
The later boundary of Forts Baker,
Barry, and Cronkhite is shown by
the black dashed line. (Detail, John
Bradshaw, “Chart of the Bay of St.
Francisco, ca. 1830, annotated by
SUNY ESF, courtesy of The Bancroft
Library, University of California,
Berkeley, map G 04362 S22 1830
B7Case XB)

Francisco de Asis, also known as
Mission Dolores, one of what would become a line of twenty-two missions along
the California coast. Aside from their function to convert perceived heathens, the
missions were self-sustaining economic operations with large agricultural com-
ponents and home industries. To operate the mission, the Spanish brought in the
Ohlone and Coast Miwok people, who were forced to adapt to European ways of
life. Many died from exposure to European diseases, against which they had no
natural immunity. Records list as many as 2,020 Coast Miwok living at the mis-

sion.'

In the decades following the establishment of the San Francisco presidio and mis-
sion, the Spanish strengthened their defenses and laid claim to additional lands.
In 1794, they built a fort, Castillo de San Joaquin, near the presidio on a promon-
tory in the Golden Gate known today as Fort Point (see fig. 1.4). Around the same
time, an expedition was sent out from San Francisco to explore the nearby but
uncharted Marin Peninsula, named after a Miwok chief.!” Spanish settlement

did not occur there until more than two decades later, when Mission San Rafael
Arcangel was established in 1817 along the upper bay, approximately nine miles
north of Lime Point. Dedicated to the patron saint of good health, mission fathers
established the San Rafael mission to provide a location more hospitable than the

one at San Francisco.!® The mission took over most of the Marin Peninsula, which
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Figure 1.5. An 1844 map of the
port of San Francisco and its two
anchorages at Sausalito and Yerba
Buena during Mexican rule, in

relationship to the Marin Headlands.

The later boundary of Forts Baker,
Barry, and Cronkhite is shown

by the black dashed line. Names
in brackets refer to current place
names. The map does not indicate
buildings that probably existed

at Sausalito.(Detail, M. Duflot de
Mofras, Entree du Port de San
Francisco, University of California,
Berkeley, Earth Sciences Library,
G4362.522 1844.D8, annotated by
SUNY ESF)

was known as Saucito, probably referring to groves of willow that grew along

the shores of the bay.!” The Spanish altered the landscape of the Coast Miwok’s
old homeland through the introduction of grazing livestock, planting of exotic
crops, and by logging redwood forests. Mission San Rafael reportedly maintained
upwards of 10,000 head of livestock, mostly Spanish longhorn cattle, which grazed
freely across parts of the peninsula. The mission may have used the southern bay
side of the peninsula in the present vicinity of Fort Baker to corral the livestock

prior to shipping them off to market.'®

In 1822, Spain lost control of California to Mexico, beginning a period of in-
creased maritime trade as the new government ended Spanish restrictions. Mari-
ners used two sheltered coves, both named after vegetation growing along their
banks, as places to anchor: Yerba Buena, meaning good herb, on the San Francisco
peninsula, and Sausalito, meaning little willow grove, on the Marin Peninsula a
short distance north of Fort Baker (see fig. 1.4). Due to a favorable microclimate,
Sausalito became the favored port in the 1820s and 1830s when it was known as El
Puerto de los Balleneros, meaning whalers’ harbor. The trade led to the construc-
tion of stores and houses to service the ships. During this period of growth for
Sausalito, the Mexican government secularized the vast missions lands in 1833 and
began to grant large tracts to private owners." In 1834, the government sold the
first part of the San Rafael mission lands, a four thousand acre tract on and adjoin-
ing the Tiburon peninsula across from Sausalito. The following year, it granted a

far larger tract of 20,000 acres, encompassing most of the Marin Peninsula includ-
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Not to scale

4

ing the headlands, to José Antonio Galindo,
but sold the grant in 1836 to Captain William

Antonio Richardson.?°

Born in England, Richardson came to San

Richardson’s Bay Francisco in 1822, and over the next decade

became a leading figure in the area through
trade and real estate dealings. In 1828, after
gaining Mexican citizenship and marrying the
daughter of the Presidio Commandante, Rich-

ardson applied for a grant to the Marin lands

San
Francisco
Bay

of Mission San Rafael Arcangel including the

headlands. The government denied his ap-

[; _ plication because it had reserved the land for
VP

military purposes.?! Richardson subsequently

turned his attention to the Yerba Buena port,

Presidio w where he helped to lay out a town, Puebla de
e =

la Yerba Buena, which would grow into the

Figure 1.6. Detail of the disefo,

or sketch map that accompanied
William Richardson’s 1835 land
grant application for Rancho
Sausalito showing location of
major landmarks at the headlands,
including Punta de Bonitas (Point
Bonita), Sauceta (Sausalito), and
Caballas (meaning mackerel or
horses) , the area corresponding
with the present site of Fort Baker.
The later boundary of Forts Baker,
Barry, and Cronkhite is shown by
the black dashed line. (Courtesy,
California Historical Society,
annotations by SUNY ESF)

city of San Francisco and surpass Sausalito as
the bay’s main port (fig. 1.5).?2 Richardson submitted another application to the
Mexican government for the former Mission San Rafael Arcangel lands, shown
the limits on a dise7io (sketch map) he submitted with the application (fig. 1.6). Al-
though Richardson acquired the 19,572-acre grant from José Galindo in 1836, the
Mexican government did not issue a formal grant until February 15, 1838. Rich-
ardson named his grant Rancho Saucelito (anglicized, Rancho Sausalito) after the
name the Spanish had long used for the area. He moved his family to the ranch in
1838 or 1839, and in 1841, built his Zacienda near Point Sausalito, north of present
Fort Baker (see fig. 1.5).%

During eight years under Mexican rule, William Antonio Richardson and his fam-
ily enjoyed a prosperous life at Rancho Sausalito, becoming well known for lavish
fiestas at their sacienda. He ran a large livestock operation, raising thousands

of cattle, horses, and sheep on the vast rangelands that extended into the Marin
Headlands. He also built a business providing ships that anchored in Sausalito

cove with water and other supplies.?

LANDSCAPE SUNMNMARY, 1846

In 1846 on the eve of American takeover of California, the landscape of Forts
Baker, Barry, and Cronkhite formed the southern extent of William Richardson’s
Rancho Sausalito. These headlands were largely undeveloped and unfortified
lands along the Golden Gate, opposite Castillo de San Joaquin (Fort Point), the
Presidio, and Batteria San Jose (Fort Mason). The young town of Yerba Buena, on

the east side of the San Francisco peninsula largely out of view from the head-
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lands, was growing into the main port in the bay area, although it still consisted of

only a scattering of buildings.

Little is known about the details of the Marin Headlands landscape during this
period except for its natural systems characterized by sheer cliffs along much of
the coast, high ridges, and grasslands, with oak and willow woods along streams
and sheltered coastline. The ecosystem had changed due to livestock grazing

and the introduction of forage crops and European weeds, notably wild oat that
spread across inland areas.? Lieutenant Henry Wise, who rode across Rancho
Sausalito in 1847, wrote that “there was no timber to be seen, and except the
stunted undergrowth netted together in the valleys and ravines, all was one rolling
scene of grass, wild oaks, and flowers.” Wise also wrote of the abundant wildlife
that remained at the ranch, including deer, bear, and waterfowl, indicating that
ranching operations by this time had not significantly altered the natural environ-
ment.?® There were probably paths crisscrossing the landscape, possibly following

old Coast Miwok trails.

As documented by French cartographers in 1844, the headlands were identified
by their major promontories including Punta Boneta and Punta del Diablo (see

fig. 1.5). Punta de San Carlos, later known as Lime Point, was not shown on the
map. The cartographers identified the eastern side of the headlands, adjoining San
Francisco Bay and the existing site of Fort Baker, as Plaza de los Cavallos, meaning
“place of the horses.” The origin of this name is not known for certain, but it may
have reflected a section of the headlands where livestock were herded, possibly
by Richardson and earlier mission ranchers, prior to loading on ships at Horse-
shoe Cove. Richardson may have fenced in a square area for the livestock along
the cove. There may have been a small ranch building along the west side of this
area, probably the only building within the future area of Forts Baker, Barry, and
Cronkhite during this period.?” It may have been this landscape that inspired Bret
Harte’s story published in 1867, “The Legend of Devil’s Point:”

On the northerly shore of San Francisco Bay, at a point where the Golden Gate
broadens into the Pacific stands a bluff promontory [probably Point Diablo]. It
affords shelter from the prevailing winds to a semicircular bay on the East. Around
this bay the hillside is bleak and barren, but there are traces of former habitation
in a weather-beaten cabin and deserted corral. It is said that these were originally
built by an enterprising squatter, who for some unaccountable reason abandoned

them shortly after...28
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2. EARLY MILITARY DEVELOPMENT,
1846-1890

The Mexican government did little to maintain the old Spanish fortifications at
San Francisco, so it was ill prepared to defend the region against American expan-
sion with the outbreak of war between the two countries in May 1846. When the
U.S. Navy landed a force of seventy sailors and marines at Yerba Buena on July

9, 1846, they quickly laid claim to the area by taking possession of the Mexican
customs house and the Presidio. On November 3™ of that same year, the U.S. War
Department announced that California would be organized as the Tenth Military
Department, officially beginning the Army’s long presence at the Golden Gate.!
On February 2, 1848, the Mexicans signed a peace treaty with the United States
that ceded all of present-day California and a large expanse of territory to the
east. The discovery of gold at Sutter’s Mill approximately 120 miles northeast of
San Francisco Bay that same year ushered in a flood of settlement to the area that
quickly led to California’s admittance as a state in 1850. Yerba Buena grew from a
small town with a population of around 500 in 1848, into the renamed city of San

Francisco with a population of over 25,000 just two years later.?

During the early years of American governance, Captain William Antonio Rich-
ardson retained control of his Mexican-issued grant at Rancho Sausalito, with
its headlands framing the northern horizon of the thriving city (fig. 2.1). While
he prospered through the trade and real estate boom of the Gold Rush, none of

the development occurring across the Golden Gate reached the Marin Head-

Sa_usélito % ;

Figure 2.1. An 1862 panorama of San Francisco looking northwest from Russian Hill with William Antonio Richardson’s Rancho Sausalito on
the Marin Headlands in the distance. (Detail, C. B. Gifford, “San Francisco from Russian Hill,” 1862. Library of Congress digital ID cph3b36887,
annotated by SUNY ESF)
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lands. Old Sausalito, the once busy port, was an isolated and largely abandoned
place during the early American years, with about a dozen buildings, although

it remained a favored port for transporting water and other supplies to the city.?
Despite this, there were changes in the landscape, notably the transformation of
the once quiet waters of the Golden Gate into a busy channel of maritime com-
merce. This activity reflected the growing economic and political importance of
San Francisco that demanded improved navigation and fortification of its harbor
against enemy attack. Although remote from the development boom, the Marin
Headlands played a key role in navigation and fortification during the first four

decades of American governance.

FIRST AIDS TO NAVIGATION

The earliest American development at the Marin Headlands was not for military
purposes. With its strong tides, rocky promontories, and breakers close to ship-
ping lanes, the approach to San Francisco harbor posed hazards to thousands of
mariners, especially when visibility was limited during heavy summer fogs.* To
improve navigation, President Taylor authorized the United States Coast Survey in
1849 to map the California coast and recommend sites for lighthouses. The survey
for the north side of the Golden Gate at the Marin Headlands, corresponding to
Sausalito and the later area of Forts Baker and Barry, was completed in 1850 (fig.
2.2). The survey identified a “signal” on a ridge north of Point Bonita, an unknown
type of navigational aid that either was proposed or had been erected since 1844.
The map also indicated the lack of development at the headlands, except for a
small number of buildings at Sausalito and an apparent rectangular, fenced and
graded area near Point Cavallo that had been identified on the 1844 map of the
harbor near or within the Plaza de los Cavallos (see fig. 1.5). The large lagoon at
the Pacific side of the headlands was not named on the Coast Survey, but became
known as Rodeo Lagoon—perhaps another place where livestock were herded in

preparation for shipping to market from the adjoining beach.®

The Coast Survey map showed the anglicizing and renaming of natural landmarks
at the headlands, notably the promontory at the narrowest part of the gate known
as Punta de San Carlos, which the Americans renamed Lime Point. This name was
taken from the white color of the rocks that was not a result of calcium carbonate
(lime), but rather bird droppings. A promontory on the Pacific coastline south of
Rodeo Beach, later named Bird Island, was a similar favorite of the birds. Point
Bonita was also known locally as North Point or Land’s End, although the Coast

Survey did not recognize these names.’

With its mapping complete, the Coast Survey recommended sixteen lighthouses
for the California coast, including four at San Francisco harbor at the Farallon
Islands approach in the Pacific, at Fort Point (site of Castillo de San Joaquin) along
the Golden Gate, and at Alcatraz Island at the entrance to the bay.® The U.S. Light-
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Figure 2.2. Survey of the headlands
completed in 1850 by the U. S. Coast
Survey. See following page for full
spread.

Figure 2.3. lllustration of the wreck
of the Tennessee at Indian Cove,
later renamed Tennessee Cove, in
March 1853, based on a first-hand
sketch. The cove was one of two
beaches along the Pacific coastline
in the area later developed as

Forts Barry and Cronkhite. (Fred M.
Stocking, “How We Gave A Name to
Tennessee Cove,” Overland Monthly,
April 1891)

house Board, an agency within the U.S. Treasury Department established in 1852,
proposed another lighthouse at either the north or south entrance to the Golden
Gate, and upon the advice of local mariners, selected the north side at Point Bo-
nita. The need for a lighthouse here became more urgent after the steamer Tennes-
see with upwards of one thousand passengers ran aground in heavy fog just north
of the point, at what was then known as Indian Cove, on March 6, 1853. The crew
and passengers made it to shore on the small beach flanked by steep cliffs, and
there brought the luggage and set up tents while waiting for rescue (fig. 2.3). Oth-

ers hiked four miles across the headlands to Sausalito.’

Just three days prior to the wreck at what became known as Tennessee Cove,
Congress had approved funding for a lighthouse at Point Bonita, but construc-
tion stalled for nearly two years. During this time, the Lighthouse Board negoti-
ated with William Richardson to use his Point Bonita land for constructing the
lighthouse, and by December 1853, he had agreed to donate one hundred acres
for this purpose, although this was never formalized.!? At the time, Richardson
was negotiating with the government for a far larger tract encompassing all of the
headlands.

Plans and authority for construction were not issued until nearly a year later in
November 1854.!! Construction began soon thereafter, with materials brought to
the site by ship, probably at a landing constructed at Rodeo Beach.!> Completed
in April 1855, the new lighthouse was located on a barren ridge close to the edge
of the cliff along the Pacific coast, overlooking the promontory of Point Bonita
(figs. 2.4, 2.5).13 This location, at the highest point along the coast at an elevation
of 260 feet above sea level, was selected because of the lack of access and level
land on the actual point. Most likely, the location was also chosen because the
higher elevation increased the visible range of the light. The lighthouse measured
fifty-six feet tall and featured a tapered, round brick tower with an iron and glazed
lantern containing a second-order Fresnel lens. On May 2, 1855, the Point Bonita

lighthouse began operation. The following year, its red-brick exterior was white-

e

THE WRECK OF THE TENNESSEE.
Drawn by Lyon from Wood Cut of Capt. Totten's Sketeh.

washed to improve its vis-

ibility as a day mark.!*

Due to the exposed, pre-
cipitous surroundings of
the tower, the lighthouse
keeper’s residence, a one-
story three-bay stuccoed
brick house, was built 650
feet back from the cliff,
facing south toward the
Golden Gate (fig. 2.6, see
also fig. 2.4). The build-

ing was completed at the
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(Fort Cronkhite)
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Saucilite
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fenced ¢
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building

Figure 2.2. Survey of the headlands completed in 1850 by the U. S. Coast Survey showing either an existing or proposed “Signal” near Point
Bonita, and isolated development at Sausalito and near Point Cavallo. The map also shows the change in place names following the American
takeover. The dashed black line shows the approximate later boundary of Forts Baker, Barry, and Cronkhite. (M. E. F. Rogers, “North Side
of the Entrance to San Francisco Bay,” U.S. Coast Survey, 1850, Register No. 321,” Golden Gate National Recreation Area, Park Archives and

Records Center, map 3512, F1, Sheet 1)
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Figure 2.4 (top, left). Painting of
the Point Bonita lighthouse and
keeper’s dwelling (far right) made
soon after completion in 1855,
looking west toward the Pacific
Ocean. (National Archives, U. S.
Coast Guard records, graphic 26-LG-
67-1, reproduced from Francis Ross
Holland Jr., America’s Lighthouses,
1988 edition, 158)

Figure 2.5 (top, right). The Point
Bonita lighthouse in its original
location looking southwest
showing proximity to the cliff
along the Pacific coast, ca. 1872.

In the early twentieth century,

this ridge became the site of Army
fire-control stations. (Courtesy of
The Bancroft Library, University of
California, Berkeley, Lone Mountain
College Collection of Stereographs
by Eadweard Muybridge, BANC PIC
1971.055:1D 1650--STER)

Figure 2.6 (bottom). The Point
Bonita keeper’s house looking
northeast at the front of the
building, ca. 1872. (Courtesy of

The Bancroft Library, University of
California, Berkeley, Lone Mountain
College Collection of Stereographs
by Eadweard Muybridge, BANC PIC
1971.055:1648--STER)

same time as the lighthouse. A cistern was
built off the west side of the house to hold
water that was probably pumped by a

windmill from a spring to the north."

During the year following completion
of the lighthouse, the Lighthouse Board

made plans to install a cannon that would
provide an audible fog signal to Point
Bonita. Fog cannons had been used on
the East Coast as early as 1719, but by the
mid-nineteenth century, bells were more
common. The eight-foot long cannon
was positioned along the coast on a ridge approximately 500 feet northwest of the
keeper’s house, near the future location of Battery Mendell (fig. 2.7). On August 6,
1855, the Point Bonita fog cannon was put into service, intended for firing every
half hour during fog. It soon proved inadequate and costly, and was replaced in
March 1856 with a 1,500-pound mechanical fog bell that was installed in a shed
next to the lighthouse. The fog cannon was retained as a supplemental signal, but
was retired in 1857. Although no longer used, the fog cannon was left at its cliff-

side location.'®

GOVERNMENT ACQUISITION OF THE HEADLANDS

At the time that the Point Bonita lighthouse was approved in March 1853, it had
already been three years since the government had announced its intent to acquire
the entire stretch of the Marin Headlands as a military reservation, amounting to
an estimated 2,300 acres.'” The government’s plans began with the findings of a
joint military commission created in 1848 to identify military sites for the pro-
tection of San Francisco harbor. The commission recommended enlarging the

Presidio and establishing new military reservations at Yerba Buena Island, Alca-
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traz Island, and Angel Island at the interior
entrance to San Francisco Bay; and at Lime
Point (Marin Headlands) as the northern
counterpart to the Presidio guarding the en-
trance to the bay along the Golden Gate (fig.
2.8). These reservations were established

by President Millard Fillmore through
executive order on November 6, 1850. The
order described the limits of the Lime Point
reservation as extending “from the southern
boundary of the Sau Saolito [sic] Bay, a line
parallel to the channel of entrance to the

Pacific.”'$

At the time of the executive order, the Lime

Point reservation land was part of William

Figure 2.7. The Point Bonita fog
cannon along the Pacific Coast, Antonio Richardson’s Rancho Sausalito. For several years, U.S. land commis-

looking north toward Rodeo Lagoon,  sjoners questioned his claim from the Mexican government, but finally accepted
photographed when they were . . .

. itin 1854 when Richardson agreed to sell the reservation land to the govern-

no longer in use, ca. 1900. (Golden

Gate National Recreation Area, Park ~ ment. Instead of the original reservation tract, military engineers negotiated with
Archives and Records Center, GOGA  Richardson for a smaller 640-acre tract surrounding Lime Point, where they were

35219) . . I
planning the main fortification."

Figure 2.8. Map showing the

location of the military reservations ~ The government did not reach a deal with Richardson, who at the time was in
established by President Fillmore in
1850 on the north and south sides of
the Golden Gate. The dashed black
line indicates the later boundary of business to profitability. Desperate for solvency, he made an agreement in 1855
Forts Baker, Barry, and Cronkhite.
(SUNY ESF)

financial ruin due to his loss of three trading vessels within a six-month period.

He mortgaged Rancho Sausalito, but was not able to return his merchant marine

to transfer Rancho Sausalito to San Francisco real estate broker Samuel Throck-

morton, except for 640

acres surrounding his
Sausalito hacienda that he
\\H mcm\knsou Q f\ deeded to his wife, Maria.

MARIN

\ PENINSULA SAN Under this agreement,
g \ i FRANCISCO Richardson was to give
) N i sausalito Angel Island
s N fancho saualte B BAY four-fifths of the property
- 1\ ounda™ &gp})}f’f )/-
et to Throckmorton, and
e~
Lime Point ofr Throckmorton was to re-
Point Bonita Lighthous\ei({ J . A’;:I;’;’; turn one-fifth debt free to
’ Yerba ; BRI
ROINTBONITA GATE  fortront - oot M Richardson within three
o\-DE“ \ g \/\y/ Island 20
PACIFIC C . \‘ years.”’ Throckmorton
) ‘
BEEAL Presidio w\ ity of Son randind was apparently attracted
S ‘ to Richardson’s offer due

to the pending sale of

T 1850 Presidio boundary

SAN FRANCISCO

o PENINSULA
0 1/2mile 1 \
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the headlands to the government, which would allow him to pay off Richardson’s

debts and make a profit.

By October 1855, the War Department had returned to the idea of acquiring the
entire 2,300-acre Lime Point reservation tract, and informally offered Throckmor-
ton, then the acknowledged owner, $200,000 for it. Confident of receiving these
funds, Richardson signed a deed on February 9, 1856 transferring title in Ran-
cho Sausalito to Throckmorton, who thereby assumed the property’s $130,000
mortgage.?! Despite this, William Richardson remained heavily in debt, and on
April 20, 1856, his creditors entered a suit against him. The following day, he died
and Samuel Throckmorton apparently withdrew his agreement to return the
one-fifth of Rancho Sausalito to the Richardson family. Throckmorton’s main
concern was reaching an agreement with the government to sell the 2,300 acres at
the headlands to gain the funds he needed to meet the high mortgage payments.
Around this time, he also began to rent out the ranch lands to earn income from
the property. These tenant farmers began dairy ranches to supply the growing San

Francisco market.??

In 1857, Congress appropriated $300,000 for land acquisition and construction

of fortifications at the Lime Point reservation, but the purchase stalled due to a

Lime Point Military Leservalion.

questionable title, political
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Figure 2.9. Survey of the Lime Point
Military Reservation, 1866. The
black dashed line indicates the later
boundary of Forts Baker, Barry, and
Cronkhite. (Golden Gate National
Recreation Area, Park Archives

and Records Center, D181, 71504,
annotated by SUNY ESF)

resurveyed as containing 1,899
acres (fig. 2.9).% The reservation encompassed the entire stretch of headlands
along the Golden Gate, including the lighthouse at Point Bonita, which up to this
point existed without legal government title to the property. The northern bound-
ary was established through the middle of Rodeo Lagoon, along Rodeo Creek,

and veered northeast over a ridge toward the southern edge of Sausalito Cove.
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Soon after acquisition, the War Department installed granite survey markers along
the reservation boundary, and in 1867, added a post and rail fence to keep out
livestock from Rancho Sausalito. The fence included locked gates at entry points,
one of which was at the trail from Sausalito to Point Bonita. The War Department
undertook other measures to protect its property, including the construction of a
guard shack at Gravelly Beach, the cove west of Lime Point, to stop people from

hauling away gravel.*

FORTIFICATION OF LIME POINT

While planning for the fortification of the north side of the Golden Gate began
shortly after the American takeover in 1848, it was not until 1858 that Army engi-
neers produced a detailed plan for a 250-gun masonry fort at Lime Point, similar
to the nearly complete work at Fort Point on the opposite side of the Golden Gate
(fig. 2.10). This plan was based on the Third System model of seacoast fortifica-
tions that Army developed between the 1830s and the Civil War. Although Third
System forts varied in details, most consisted of multi-tiered casemated masonry
batteries used to defend primary entry points into harbors, often surrounded by
water on the primary sides. Cannons fired through small openings and ammuni-
tion storage rooms known as magazines were contained within the structure sur-
rounding an interior parade ground. The open top tier of these forts, known as the
barbette tier, contained guns that were mounted to fire over protective masonry

parapets.?

]
i

Lime Point

Lime Point Ridge

Figure 2.10. Panorama of the Marin Headlands looking north across the Golden Gate from Fort Point, a Third System battery, ca. 1868. The

named areas at the headlands indicate places where fortifications were planned or built through the mid-1870s. (National Archives, Records

of the Office of the Chief of Engineers, 77-F-94-101-26, reproduced from copy in Golden Gate National Recreation Area, Park Archives and
Records Center, 35339.039, annotated by SUNY ESF)
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Section of cliff to be cut back

By 1867, the plans for Lime Point of a decade

Golden Gate straits

/ - : s earlier had been modified, but still called for
- = . . | construction of a Third System fort, featuring
. Setton ot G-Ity ookigwess, an irregular polygonal face and a capacity of 109
. b . guns (fig. 2.11). Plans also included construction

of a separate two-tier battery at Point Diablo,

the promontory west of Lime Point. Army en-

'/Magaiines ‘ a

gineers retained the basic Third System design
for these forts despite high costs and experience

from the Civil War that showed new rifled guns

could destroy masonry walls. The headlands

forts also faced obstacles from the topography

G 4,...:,(

L Facrio, 4’:«;//‘7 at both sites, which required extensive blasting

to create buildable areas along the sheer cliffs.

Figure 2.11. North-south section and plan
of the top or barbette tier of the Lime
Point fort, 1867. (National Archives, RG
77, reproduced from Thompson, 1979,
annotated by SUNY ESF)

Figure 2.12. Map of the eastern end of Lime
Point Military Reservation showing location

of batteries and other development by
1890. (Map of Fort Baker, pre-1905, National
Archives, RG 77, Golden Gate National
Recreation Area, Park Archives and Records
Center, D189, F3-9, annotated by SUNY ESF)

At Lime Point, plans called for cutting back the
250-foot high cliff by 230 feet, requiring ap-
proximately one million cubic yards of rock to be removed from the rear of
the fort (see fig. 2.11).26

In early 1867, Major George Mendell, who was responsible for the fortifica-
tions at Alcatraz Island, took charge of construction at Lime Point, a job he
would maintain into the 1890s. At this point, the Army Board of Engineers
approved only preliminary construction at Lime Point, recognizing the
possible need for redesign. The initial work included construction of sup-
port buildings for Army engineers that served as quarters, storehouses, and

workshops; building of access roads to Lime Point and Point Diablo; and

Gravelly Beach
Battery (1870-73) |
i

Uncompleted road to \
Points Diablo and
Bonita (1874-1875) |

|

Road to
Gravelly
Beach (1870)

Straights of the Golden Gate

‘x Batteries (1871-72)

Battery Cavallo
Main work
Outwork
(1872-76)

Horseshoe Cove

Cavallo Point

* The Needles
Horseshoe Bay

Blast area (1868-69)
(site of proposed

Cliff and Ridge Lime Point fort)

Lime Point fog signal (1883)

o 500 feet 1,000
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blasting of the rock at Lime Point.
Work on the support buildings
began in August 1867 at a small
valley on the east side of Horse-
shoe Cove, the small bay between
Lime Point and Cavallo Point (fig.
2.12). Horseshoe was an appar-
ent reference to the shape of the
bay, or to Cavallo Point (caballo,
Spanish for horse), referring to

the use of the area for livestock

Quarters

Carpenters Shop
Tank 7

Lodging & [illeg.] House

during the rancho and mission
years of the early nineteenth
century. The group of support
buildings was referred to as the
Engineer Camp because of its
temporary nature. A permanent
post for the reservation was envi-
el e sioned for the large valley to the

north, which the Army referred to
as the Old Ranch Valley.?”

The Engineer Camp consisted of
white-painted frame buildings,
the largest of which provided liv-
ing quarters, while smaller ones
functioned as a coal shed, car-
penter’s shop, smith shop, office,
stables, and a storehouse (figs.
2.13,2.14). Water from springs

N :
Needle Rock

2 0

50 feet 100

20 o above the camp was captured in a

Figure 2.13 (top). The Engineer
Camp on Horseshoe Bay north of
Lime Point, view looking west,
ca. 1870. (Golden Gate National
Recreation Area, Park Archives
and Records Center, PAM Prints
Collection, GOGA 1766)

Figure 2.14 (bottom). Map of the
Engineer Camp on Horseshoe Bay,
1868. (Detail, “Map Accompanying
the Annual Report Lime Point

Cal., 1868,” Golden Gate National
Recreation Area, Park Archives and
Records Center, 71752, D195 F1,
annotated by SUNY ESF)

tank on the hillside above. The waterfront featured a timber wharf to receive sup-
plies barged in from San Francisco, and the surrounding waters were made into a
sheltered cove by the construction of a stone breakwater that extended to Needle

Rock, the largest of several outcrops in the bay known as the Needles.?

As the Engineer Camp was under construction, Major Mendell oversaw blasts

at Lime Point between May 1868 and June 1869 to begin site preparation for the
Third System fort. Army engineers soon suspended the blasting because they were
planning development of a new type of fortifications for the headlands that could
be built more cheaply, accommodate a new generation of larger guns, and provide
better protection against accurate, high-powered rifled armament. Barbette bat-
teries—much like the top tier of the old Third System forts, but set behind protec-
tive earthen parapets—were proposed for multiple locations along the coastline.

These also coincided with a new model for the placement of harbor defenses
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that were dispersed at the most tactically

favorable positions.?

At San Francisco as at other major har-
bors, Army engineers adopted a design
for barbette batteries consisting of paired
gun emplacements set behind brick
parapet walls and earthen parapets (fig.
2.15). The sides of the emplacements
were protected by traverse parapets con-
taining subsurface magazines for storage
of ammunition. These earthen parapets

were sodded to protect against erosion. *°

Figure 2.15. A barbette battery at
the Presidio, view looking outward,

ca. 1880. This image shows dual

gun emplacements, earthen
parapets with brick walls at the
emplacements, and traverses

with subsurface magazines (brick
doorway at right) typical of the
batteries built at Lime Point. (Loretta
Block Thompson, from Raymond
Lewis, Seacoast Fortifications of the
Untied States, 71)

Unlike Third System forts, these barbette
batteries occupied a larger area, yet were much less conspicuous in the landscape.
The greatest strategic advantage to these new batteries was that their low crests
and earthen parapets made them harder targets for naval fire than the old masonry

forts.

While engineers did not abandon plans for building Third System forts at Lime
Point and Point Diablo, work on the projects would never be resumed as the
focus shifted for the next seven years to the barbette batteries. The western-most
barbette battery was sited at Gravelly Beach, at the cove (Kirby Cove) between
Lime Point and Point Diablo. This would serve as one of two batteries near the
water level, the other at Point Cavallo, the peninsula separating Horseshoe Cove

from San Francisco Bay east of Lime Point. A high-elevation battery was planned

Traverse wtih magazine

Figure 2.16. Sketch of Gravelly Beach Battery built between 1870 and 1872. The single gun mounted here in 1873 was in emplacement #8.
(Emanuel Raymond Lewis, “A History of San Francisco Harbor Defense Installations: Forts Baker, Barry, Cronkhite, and Funston,” 1965, figure 13)
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Figure 2.17. An 1872 plan of Ridge
and Cliff Batteries built on the

ridge above Lime Point in the early
1870s. (National Archives, RG 77,
reproduced from Erwin Thompson,
Historic Resources Study,
Seacoast Fortifications, San
Francisco Harbor, 1979, drawing 3,
annotated by SUNY ESF)

for a ridge above Lime Point, protecting the waters surrounding the long-planned
Third System fort below. The earth for the batteries consisted of soil and rock
blasted from adjoining hillsides, which was built into parapets by six-inch com-
pacted layers. Sand, cement, lime, wood, and brick were barged directly to the

water-level batteries, or hauled up to the high battery.!

Work on the new batteries began in September 1870 with the construction of a
road to Gravelly Beach from the Engineer Camp. Plans had originally called for
the road to Lime Point to continue along the shoreline to Point Diablo, but the
Army abandoned this in favor of an upland route that wound over Lime Point
Ridge and down into the Gravelly Beach valley (see fig. 2.12). The Gravelly Beach
battery, begun in late 1870 as the first of the three fortifications, was intended as
the first line of protection along the Golden Gate east of the proposed, but still
unrealized, work at Point Diablo. In its final design, the work included mounts for
twelve Rodman guns (five pairs and two single weapons on the flanks), separated
by traverses with magazines (fig. 2.16). The parapet walls were built of timber

instead of brick or concrete, and the gun platforms consisted of redwood timbers

<P

0

S

ENAC

Sitosof \\\‘Q\
&

mortars

Stone gun platforms,
brick parapet walls

Earthen traverse

Golden Gate straits l

set in concrete. A large brick culvert carried the

A Road to Gravelly Beach L.
v (Conzelman Road) creek that ran down the adjoining valley beneath

the battery. In 1873, Battery Gravelly was com-
pleted and mounted with just one of its proposed

twelve Rodman guns.??

In 1872, work started on the battery atop Lime

Point Ridge that was known as two separate works:
Traverse . . .
with magazine Ridge Battery with two paired gun emplacements

along the spine of the ridge and five mortars
Ridge Battery

7

(short-barrel guns with a high trajectory) near the
&, road; and CIiff Battery with two paired and a single
"\ gun emplacement overlooking the Golden Gate
(fig. 2.17). Ridge Battery provided access to Cliff
' Battery through a covered way, a road surrounded
by protective earthen parapets. The gun emplace-
' ments at Ridge Battery featured brick parapet walls
7 N and granite gun platforms (fig. 2.18). Both batteries

were substantially complete by 1873, but no guns
// would be mounted until the 1890s.*
7%
D

with magazine
&
Earthen parapet ’ o © The last and largest of the three barbette bat-
- ﬁ 'J 2 'l © teries was at Cavallo Point, begun in 1872 and
4 1 —— cliff Battery | gqubstantially completed in 1876. The battery was
platfomme ‘ S connected to the Engineer Camp by a road built

along the shoreline of Horseshoe Cove. It was a

éF 0 large battery that protected the northern entrance
] 100 feet 200

to San Francisco Bay, complimenting existing or
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Figure 2.18. Paired gun

emplacements at Ridge Battery
completed in 1872, showing
fifteen-inch Rodman guns installed
in 1893, stone gun mounts, brick
parapet walls, and turf-covered
earthen parapet, ca. 1895. (Golden
Gate National Recreation Area,
Park Archives and Records Center,
photograph 25301.1997)

planned fortifications at Angel Island and Alca-
traz Island. Cavallo Battery was also intended to
protect Horseshoe Cove, Richardson Bay, and the
anchorage at Sausalito.** With a unique, enclosed
pentagonal shape that responded to the peninsular
location, the fifteen-gun and nine-traverse battery
had a fortified character recalling the old Third
System works (fig. 2.19). It also had an outwork
near the tip of Cavallo Point with an additional two
gun emplacements and a magazine. Across the cen-
ter of the interior of the main work was a traverse
with two brick connecting tunnels. The battery was
complete when work stopped in 1876, except for gun platforms and parapet walls.

Like Cliff and Ridge Batteries, no guns were mounted at the time. >

Aside from the three barbette batteries, Colonel Mendell continued to pursue
development of a fortification at Point Diablo. In 1874, he received approval of the
work and began construction of an access road that turned off the road to Grav-
elly Beach near Ridge Battery (see fig. 2.12). Mendell also considered extending
the road to Point Bonita, nearly three miles west of Lime Point where Army engi-
neers had considered construction of a fortification.’® By January 1875, workers
had completed approximately one mile of the road, which extended around the
north side of Diablo Ridge into the head of a side valley along Rodeo Valley (later
site of the rifle range). At this time, work ceased when Army engineers determined
construction of a fortification at Point Diablo was not a priority. The planned ac-
cess road was left incomplete, although Army personnel probably used it as a trail

to Point Bonita.?”

Beginning in 1876 and for the next fifteen years, Congress appropriated no funds
for construction of new batteries or installation of new armament in the nation’s
seacoast fortifications. During this time, the one gun at Battery Gravelly was the
only weapon guarding the north side of the Golden Gate. The old Third-System
forts at Fort Point and Alcatraz Island, with their 1870s-style batteries left mostly
unarmed, continued to serve as the primary defenses for San Francisco harbor
into the early 1890s. With limited funds available for maintenance, many of the

earthwork batteries, plagued by burrowing gophers, fell into disrepair. *

IMPROVEMENTS TO NAVIGATIONAL AIDS

In the late 1860s as the War Department was beginning its fortifications, the Light-
house Board was planning to improve its Point Bonita facilities at the far western
end of the military reservation. Perhaps seeking to secure the site against future
Army encroachment, the Lighthouse Board sought designation of its own reser-

vation, proposing a forty-four acre tract to be called the Point Bonita Lighthouse
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Figure 2.19. An 1872 plan of Battery Cavallo showing the proposed main work and the outwork at the south end of the point. The gun

platforms and parapet walls were not constructed during this period. (National Archives, RG 77, reproduced from Erwin Thompson,
Historic Resources Study, Seacoast Fortifications, San Francisco Harbor, 1979, drawing 2, annotated by SUNY ESF)
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Figure 2.20. An 1872 map of Point Bonita based on an 1869 survey showing the boundary of the proposed lighthouse reservation and
location of improvements built since 1855. The trail to Point Bonita is shown as proposed, although it would not be completed for several
years. Features added after 1872 are indicated by date. The map and title block have been reoriented from the original to put north at
the top. (Golden Gate National Recreation Area, Park Archives and Records Center, War Room Drawings collection, 18-23-19, annotated

by SUNY ESF based in part on previous version dated July 1871, drawing 18-20-50)
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Reservation (fig. 2.20). This proposal, however, went nowhere and Point Bonita

remained under military jurisdiction.*

By 1870, Point Bonita was little changed since its establishment fifteen years

earlier. It contained the lighthouse, fog bell and cannon, and keeper’s house on

the windswept ridge above Point Bonita, with only a rough trail connecting it to

Sausalito, a three-mile and half-hour ride away. To many in the area, the point was

aremote and unknown place within Sausalito Township, known only through

published accounts, such as one that appeared in the Saucelito Herald in 1871:

Figure 2.21. Map of the initial land
and water access to the site of a
new fog signal at Land’s End at
Point Bonita, July 1871. (Detail,
“Map of Point Boneta, The Outer
Head Land, North of the Entrance
to San Francisco Harbor,” Golden
Gate National Recreation Area,
Park Archives and Records Center,
War Room Drawings, 18-20-50,
annotated by SUNY ESF)

pleasing picture, an ample return for the trouble experienced in reaching the spo
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__Iﬁ(liné railway

¢ _site for fog signal-

On the bluft, just in the rear of the [keeper’s] house, stands the old fog-cannon...It

is but a short walk from here to the light-house. . .Everything is a model of neatness
and order...The view from the upper part of the light-house, in clear weather, is
unsurpassed. San Francisco and the bay fortifications seem but a short distance off.
Almost beneath us a number of vessels, ships, schooners, even the smaller fishing craft
passing in and out; the rocky line of coast stretching away to the northward, over which
the waves dash with roaring sound, leaving a line of white foam behind; the heavy

breakers on the bar beyond; the Faralones [islands] in the distance, altogether a most

t.40

At the time of this newspaper article, the Lighthouse Board
was in the midst of major improvements to the 1850s facili-
ties, which had proved to have a number of drawbacks. The
lighthouse was inadequate in the dense high-elevation fogs
typical of the Golden Gate, so the light beam was often in-
visible to nearby ships along the coastline that were in most
danger of crashing into rocks. The fog bell’s relatively weak
signal and location 260 feet above the water did not reach
boats far out from the coast. The board’s solution to both of
these problems was relocation to a lower elevation near the
tip of Point Bonita, then also referred to as Land’s End, and
use of an amplified signal technology marketed as Brown’s
Steam Fog Siren. This system used steam forced through
rotating discs to produce a high-pitched siren, amplified by a

thirty-inch wide, sixteen-foot long trumpet.*!

The first priority was the fog signal, which received a Con-
gressional appropriation in 1871. At the time, there was
neither land nor water access to the tip of Point Bonita. In
preparation for bringing building materials and supplies to
the site, a boat landing was constructed on the eastern side
of the point in Bonita Cove, initially connected to the fog
signal site by a six-foot wide road (figs. 2.21, 2.22). The land-
ing featured a derrick that raised supplies from boats to an

incline railway that ascended a cut in the cliff. From a store-
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house at the top of the incline, workers laid out
alevel railway along the ridge to reach the fog
signal site. The railway was designed to supply
the fog signal with the anticipated seventy-five
tons of coal needed annually to fire the steam

boilers.*

To provide a land route from the mainland,
workers constructed a trail from the railway and
southern landing north to the lighthouse keep-
er’s dwelling (see fig. 2.20). Due to the weakness
of the rock, workers encountered a number of
landslides during construction. Along the side of
sheer cliff mid-way on the point, workers built

a timber walkway (also called The Gallery) that

Figure 2.22. The southern landing at Point skirted the edge to avoid excavation into the rock (fig. 2.23, see also fig.

Bonita looking north, with the derrick at the

lower right and the incline railway to the

2.21). Near the keeper’s house, the Point Bonita trail connected to a road

left leading up to a storage shed, ca. 1872. or trail to Rodeo Beach, most likely the site of the original lighthouse land-

(Courtesy of The Bancroft Library, University  jng in 1855. Mid-way along this road was the trail leading northeast to Sau-

of California, Berkeley, Lone Mountain College
Collection of Stereographs by Eadweard

salito through Rancho Sausalito. In ca. 1872, Samuel Throckmorton, the

Muybridge, BANC PIC 1971.055:1651--STER) owner of Rancho Sausalito, built a road from Sausalito to the light house

Figure 2.23 (left). The cliff-side walkway to Land’s End (Point Bonita) looking south with the first fog signal in the distance, ca. 1872.

(Courtesy of The Bancroft Library, University of California, Berkeley, Lone Mountain College Collection of Stereographs by Eadweard

Muybridge, BANC PIC 1971.055:1647--STER)

Figure 2.24 (right). The first fog signal station at the tip of Point Bonita, looking south, ca. 1872. The siren trumpets faced the Golden

Gate, on the opposite side of the building in this photograph. The railway and incline brought coal and other supplies from the southern

landing. This image illustrates the original elevation of the station. (Courtesy of The Bancroft Library, University of California, Berkeley,
Lone Mountain College Collection of Stereographs by Eadweard Muybridge, BANC PIC 1971.055:1654--STER)
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Figure 2.25. Site plan of the second
fog signal station built in 1874-75
on the same location by cutting
down the rock twenty-five feet and
engineering the southern slope

to prevent landslides. (Golden

Gate National Recreation Area,
Park Archives and Records Center,
War Room Drawings, 18-2b-46,
annotated by SUNY ESF)

boundary, probably following the earlier trail.* These roads connected to a third
boat landing that had been constructed on the north side of Bonita Cove by 1870.
Also outfitted with a derrick like the south landing, this northern landing was used

to bring supplies to the keepers’ quarters and lighthouse.*

This north landing was probably also used in 1871 to unload materials for con-
struction of an expanded water system designed to bring large amounts of fresh
water necessary for the fog signal’s steam boilers. The water source was from

the same area used previously, springs within a gully north of the keeper’s house
that drained into the Pacific north of Bird Island, also known as Bird Rock (see
fig. 2.20). Here, workers probably added a new well or enlarged the old one, and
installed a windmill to pump the water through a system of pipes to the fog signal
station, following the trail and railway to Point Bonita. Near the keeper’s house
approximately one hundred feet above the elevation of the fog signal, a domed

brick cistern was built to supply constant water pressure.®

Work on the fog signal station continued through the spring of 1872 and the
station went into operation on May 29, As completed, the station featured a com-
plex of buildings with a narrow steel smoke stack, precariously perched on a high
rocky outcrop at the tip of the point reached by an inclined railway (fig. 2.24). Like
the old lighthouse, the buildings were whitewashed to serve as day marks. Soon
after completion, the steep slopes began to give way. The worst landslide occurred
on February 9, 1874, when the south-facing cliff fell into the sea, taking an anchor

of the signal trumpet with it and

A 1 25" contour.
* (base of platform) .2

- site'of old boiler room >
1

ey

£ P o8 Tegmgna $or FE Bty
7728 feet bow pregent Locartion

undermining the foundation of

the signal house. To remedy this,
the Lighthouse Board decided

to rebuild the entire complex on

< Tramway
A Y(railway to
+ south landing)’

a more stable footing by cutting
down the point by twenty-five
feet. Plans were drafted in Feb-
ruary 1874 and work began the
following October with removal

of the buildings and excavation.

The rebuilt fog signal station,
completed by May 1875, was

PR %N similar to the first, with two
Siren ¥ \(%;é

trumpets

siren sixteen-foot trumpets fac-

ing southwest, an engine room,
coal room, kitchen, and a living
room (fig. 2.25). The lower

elevation allowed for removal of
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the incline railway.
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Figure 2.26. The second lighthouse
built at the tip of Point Bonita in
1877, looking south across the
Golden Gate, ca. 1890. (Golden
Gate National Recreation Area, Park
Archives and Records Center, GOGA
35301.0809)

Figure 2.27. The new keeper’s
dwelling constructed in

ca. 1875 west of the old dwelling,
view looking northwest from a later
photograph, ca. 1920. The small
building in the background and
cypress trees were added after 1890.
(Golden Gate National Recreation
Area, Park Archives and Records
Center, GOGA 18498.002)

While this reconstruction was
underway, the Lighthouse
Board began to plan for moving
the lighthouse to the western
promontory on Point Bonita,
363 feet northwest of the fog
signal (see fig. 2.20). Plans were
to move the lantern and lens to
anew tower at the point, and

leave the old tower, capped by

a brick dome, as a day mark.
Congress appropriated funds
on July 31, 1876, and soon
thereafter, work began on
rebuilding the access trail to improve the safety of the connection to the mainland
part of the station, a route plagued by landslides and the precarious cliff-hanging
bridge. In place of the cliff-side bridge, workers constructed a 118-foot long, six-
foot wide tunnel in 1876 (see fig. 2.20).4

The new lighthouse at the tip of Point Bonita, which went into service on Febru-
ary 2, 1877, featured a short, whitewashed brick tower, giving the light an eleva-
tion of 140 feet above sea level instead of the previous 306 feet (fig. 2.26). On a
clear night, the light was visible eighteen nautical miles out at sea. The tower rose
sixteen feet above the roof of a two-winged building containing the keeper’s night
quarters and an oil storage room. The lighthouse was connected to the trail and
railway at the fog signal station by a narrow land bridge that was surfaced with a
concrete walk. At the same time, a 12,000-gallon water tank was built next to the
fog signal to improve what had apparently been an inadequate water supply from

the cistern near the keeper’s house.*®

Following completion of the new lighthouse, a number of other improvements
were made to the light station through the 1880s. In ca. 1875, a new keeper’s
house was built west and south of the original 1855 building, facing south toward

Bonita Cove (see fig. 2.20). The one and one-

i iii] |

i
i
il

il

half-story Gothic Revival-style house was much
larger than the earlier dwelling, and more refined
with its cross-gable roof and chimney pots (fig.
2.27). The old brick dwelling was converted into
a duplex for the assistant keepers; it still relied
on an outhouse that by regulation had to be
moved every three months.* At some point in
the late nineteenth century, the grounds of both
houses were enclosed with picket fences. Several
secondary buildings were added near the two

residences, including a barn and sheds. Although
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S __ i R
The Guardians of the Golden Gate

Fort Point

Figure 2.28. The fog signal station
at Lime Point built in 1883, view
looking west toward the Pacific,
from a ca. 1890 postcard. This image
illustrates how Lime Point served as
a navigational companion to Fort
Point, and the white wash applied
to the station and its rock base.
(Golden Gate National Recreation
Area, Park Archives and Records
Center, photograph GOGA 35204,
annotated by SUNY ESF)

the Army did not grant
the Lighthouse Board

its own reservation, it
did allow the construc-
tion of a fence along the
proposed border (see fig.
2.20).%

Keeper's dlv‘velling

s -1 ; A Point Bonita was not the
: only part of the Lime
Point Military Reser-
i vation that interested
the Lighthouse Board.
Three miles east of Point
Bonita, the rocky promontory at Lime Point, where the military had planned to
build a Third System fort, posed a navigational hazard, especially during heavy
fog. Fort Point, the southern counterpart to Lime Point, had been outfitted with a
lighthouse in the 1850s, but the northern entrance to the bay remained unmarked
for the next three decades. In 1882, Congress appropriate funds for construction
of a steam fog signal at Lime Point, a decade after the one at Point Bonita. Plans
called for two twelve-inch steam whistles, which produced a shorter-range signal
than the large trumpets sirens at Point Bonita. Plans did not include the construc-

tion of a light.!

The site of the new fog signal was a rock at the tip of Lime Point known as Sugar
Loaf (see fig. 2.12). As at Point Bonita, the Lighthouse Board did not have a res-
ervation of its own, but rather occupied the site through an agreement with the
War Department. To create a buildable site, workers blasted off the top of Sugar
Loaf Rock to create a level platform. As completed in 1883, the complex included
a one-story brick fog signal building with the two fog whistles rising from the ridge
of the gable roof (fig. 2.28). A keeper’s dwelling, constructed to the rear of the

fog signal building, was a large, two-story brick building containing two separate
dwellings. Both buildings had red roofs and their brick walls were whitewashed
to serve as day marks. As at Point Bonita, coal and other supplies were brought to
the site by a railway following the preexisting road to the engineer wharf. Water
for the fog boilers was transported by a flume that ran down the hillside from a

reservoir at the Engineer Camp.>

SAUSALITO AND HEADLANDS RANCHES

After Samuel Throckmorton sold the headlands of Rancho Sausalito to the federal
government in 1866, most of the Marin Peninsula to the north remained ranch-
lands, but the eastern shore from Old Sausalito north developed into a thriving

port and suburban community in the later decades of the nineteenth century. The
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origins of Sausalito’s revival began shortly after the sale of the headlands to the
government, when investors acquired 1,164 acres from Throckmorton and the
Richardson heirs in 1869 to form the Sausalito Land & Ferry Company (fig. 2.29).
The company laid out lots and streets for a new town north of the old one, and
began regular ferry service to San Francisco. According to an 1880 county history,
the land and water company “...was destined to cause new life to spring into the
old wreck of a town, and to draw the attention of people seeking a quiet rural
home in a lovely place...”> The fortunes of the land company were greatly im-
proved with establishment of the North Pacific Coast Railroad in 1871, which had
its terminus at the Sausalito wharf, crossing Richardson’s Bay by a long trestle.>*
Growth of the town by the 1880s extended into Old Sausalito near the northern

boundary of the Lime Point Military Reservation, where commercial and indus-

trial buildings lined the waterfront and country houses dotted the hillsides amid
the old ranchlands (figs. 2.30, 2.31).
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Figure 2.29. An 1873 map of Marin County showing Rancho Sausalito and Sausalito in relation to the Lime Point Military Reservation. The map
also shows the two parcels north of the military reservation subdivided from Rancho Sausalito in 1881. The black dashed line indicates the
existing boundary of Forts Baker, Barry, and Cronkhite. (Detail, H. Austin, “Map of Marin County, California,” 1873, California State Library)
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To meet his financial obligations

on his heavily mortgaged land,
Samuel Throckmorton began to rent
out Rancho Sausalito to farmers

beginning in the late 1850s. Most

farmers established dairy ranches
that produced for the burgeoning
San Francisco market. According
to an 1880 county history, milk and
butter production was the principal
occupation of farmers in Sausalito
Township, “...owing to the fact
that a great portion of the land is
topographically unfit for farming

purposes, and from the more potent

Figure 2.30 (top). The waterfront

in the vicinity of Old Sausalito
looking south with the hills of

Lime Point Military Reservation

in the right background, ca. 1888.
(George Reed photograph, Courtesy
of The Bancroft Library, University
of California, Berkeley, BANC PIC
1979.051:09--ALB)

Figure 2.31 (bottom). Hikers gathered
along a fence on or near the Lime
Point Military Reservation boundary,
looking northeast toward Sausalito
with country houses on the hillside
and waterfront development

visible in the background, ca. 1887.
(Courtesy of Sausalito Historical
Society, photograph P75-1158)

fact that the business of dairying pays
a better profit on the investment.”»
The western part of the peninsula
was ideal for dairy cows due to the
fogs that prolonged the growing
season of the grasslands into the
summer. When the grasses dried up,
farmers supplemented with oats, hay,
or barley that they raised on valley

flats.%¢

By 1880, Throckmorton had twenty-
four tenant dairy farms, concen-
trated at the south and west sides

of Rancho Sausalito, with several
bordering the Lime Point Military Reservation. The Army probably leased some
of its inactive military land at Old Ranch Valley (Fort Baker main post) and near
Gravelly Beach to these dairy farmers, who maintained barns and fenced corrals
for their cows. The tenant ranches were each run by two or three Portuguese men
who formed individual diary companies.’” Despite his rental income and other
real estate enterprises, Samuel Throckmorton remained in financial difficulty,

and in 1881, was forced to sell approximately 1,600 acres at the south end of the
ranch bordering the Lime Point Military Reservation. This land was sold in two
tracts: 1,630 acres between Sausalito and the east end of Rodeo Lagoon that was
acquired by E. W. Burr, . M. Shotwell, and Janet Howard; and a 540-acre parcel
from that lot to the Pacific Ocean, which was acquired by J. B. Haggin, a thorough-
bred horse rancher (see fig. 2.29).5 Throckmorton retained the remaining lands
of Rancho Sausalito, amounting to approximately 15,000 acres, until his death in

1883. He left the heavily mortgaged property to his daughter, Susannah Throck-
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Figure 2.32. An 1886 map showing the ranches acquired by Borel, Haggin, and the Tamalpais Land and Water Company in the 1880s. The
black dashed line indicates the later boundary of Forts Baker, Barry, and Cronkhite. (Detail, U.S. Coast Survey, 1886, Golden Gate National
Recreation Area, Park Archives and Records Center, GOGA 3512, annotated by SUNY ESF)
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Figure 2.33. Map showing the ranches on Tamalpais Land & Water Company property in Tennessee Valley in ca. 1890. The black dashed line
indicates the later boundary of Fort Cronkhite. (Detail, Tamalpais Land & Water Company Map showing subdivision of ranchlands, 1892,
annotated by SUNY ESF, Courtesy of Sausalito Historical Society, map 76-498)
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morton, who managed it for the remainder of the 1880s. In 1889, she sold Rancho
Sausalito to the Tamalpais Land and Water Company, which continued to rent to
the dairy farmers while planning to develop a new town north of Sausalito named
Mill Valley.®

In the early 1880s, Burr, Shotwell, and Howard sold their 1,630-acre tract to An-
toine Borel, an immigrant from Switzerland who came to San Francisco during the
Gold Rush. Borel was manager of A. Borel & Company of San Francisco, a promi-
nent mercantile and banking firm founded by his brother Alfred in 1855. Antoine
Borel was head of the California Street Cable Railway Company, and in 1885, was
appointed Swiss Consul. At his Marin Headlands property, Borel continued to
rent to the farmers who had settled there during Samuel Throckmorton’s own-
ership between the 1850s and 1870s. In the 1880s, the ranch was operated by
Manuel V. Silva, the son of Joseph V. Silva who had immigrated to Marin County
from the Azores in 1856, and had established a dairy ranch near Manzanita (north
of Sausalito) and a successful grocery business. Manuel’s dairy ranch was centered
in the valley that branched northeast from Rodeo Lagoon (present Gerbode Val-
ley) (fig. 2.32).%°

The horse rancher J. B. Haggin also retained a tenant dairy farmer on his adjoin-
ing 540-acre parcel to the west of the Borel property. In 1885, Haggin’s tenant was
Louis Gioli, a Swiss immigrant who ran a dairy ranch with several buildings in a
small valley northwest of Rodeo Lagoon. North of the Haggin property were ten-
ant ranches in Tennessee Valley on property owned by the newly formed Tamal-
pais Land & Water Company (fig. 2.33).%!

LANDSCAPE SUNINARY, 1846-1890

In 1890, fifty-six years after the American takeover of San Francisco, the landscape
of Forts Baker, Barry, and Cronkhite was on the verge of a new era of develop-
ment following fifteen years of relative inactivity. The landscape, much of which
remained little changed from its character at the end of Mexican rule, was domi-
nated by rocky coast, dramatic cliffs, high ridges and rolling hills, sheltered valleys,
and expansive grasslands. Trees and shrubs shaded small areas along creeks and in
sheltered areas. Changes by 1890 resulted from the development of dairy ranches
north of Rodeo Lagoon and Rodeo Creek, construction of fortifications near

Lime Point, and addition of navigational aids at Point Bonita and Lime Point.

The 1,899-acre Lime Point Military Reservation encompassed the later limits of
Forts Baker and Barry, including Point Bonita where the Lighthouse Board occu-
pied a forty-four acre area, along with a small parcel at the tip of Lime Point under
an apparent informal arrangement with the Army. All of Fort Cronkhite in 1890
was privately owned ranchland. The part south of Wolf Ridge was owned by the

horse rancher J. Higgin, and the area to the north in Tennessee Valley was part of
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a leased dairy ranch within Rancho Sausalito, then owned by the Tamalpais Land
& Water Company. The Army may have allowed cattle from these ranches to graze

within the military reservation, a use that helped to maintain the open grasslands.

The Marin Peninsula north of Forts Baker, Barry, and Cronkhite remained pri-
marily ranchlands in 1890, except for Sausalito, which had grown into a prosper-
ous village with commercial and industrial development along the waterfront and
houses extending up the hillsides. To the west of Sausalito was the Silva ranch,
owned by San Francisco financier Antoine Borel. It shared a long border with the
military reservation along Rodeo Valley, separated by Rodeo Creek and a plank
fence along the boundary erected in 1867. Access to the western part of the res-
ervation, including Point Bonita, was by a farm road (present Bobcat and Miwok

Trails) that ran through the Silva ranch from Sausalito via Tennessee Valley.®?

FORT BAKER LANDSCAPE (DRAWING 1.1)

In 1890, the Army’s fortifications and support buildings at the Lime Point Military
Reservation still reflected its post-Civil War strategy to protect the inner entrance
to San Francisco harbor. The earthwork barbette batteries and support build-

ings were concentrated in a small area of the reservation around Lime Point, the
promontory that formed the northern edge of the narrowest passage through

the Golden Gate. The batteries were intended to complement the main harbor
defenses at Fort Point, which was renamed Fort Winfield Scott in 1882, and at
Alcatraz Island. Due to lack of Congressional appropriations for more than fifteen
years, the headlands fortifications by 1890 stood disarmed and in declining condi-

tion. ©

The Fort Baker landscape in 1890 still retained vestiges of its agricultural past,
including two clusters of buildings with fenced corrals that were most likely tenant
dairy ranches. The complex at Old Ranch Valley (present site of the main post)

in part predated arrival of the Army. It included three barns or sheds and a house
along the east side of the creek that ran through the center of the valley, and its
fenced corral extended east across the valley floor. In the valley just north of Bat-
tery Gravelly Beach was another smaller corral with three barns or sheds, estab-
lished in ca. 1875.%

Access to the Lime Point fortifications at this time was by water only, as there were
no roads connecting the post with Sausalito or other points north on the Marin
Peninsula. The reservation contained one wharf at the Engineer Camp, set within
a protected cove formed by a breakwater at the Needles. The wharf provided
access to a road (present Moore Road), built in 1867, that ran along the shoreline
to Lime Point, where blasting two decades earlier was undertaken in preparation
of the unrealized Third System fort. The road extended north and east (present
Center and East roads), terminating at Cavallo Battery. A small spur led north

into the main valley to a cluster of ranch buildings, and another led to the Cavallo
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Battery outwork. A second main road (Old Conzelman Road) extended uphill
from the wharf, looping around a knoll (present Vista Point) to Lime Point Ridge,
location of Ridge and Cliff Batteries. The road then descended into the valley to
the west, terminating at the Gravelly Beach Battery (present Roth Road). The road
to Point Diablo (Conzelman and Julian Fire Roads), abandoned in 1875 before it
was completed, extended along the upper side of the Gravelly Beach valley and
terminated north of Diablo Ridge. It continued as a trail through Rodeo Valley
toward Point Bonita (along the present alignment of Bunker Road). Another foot
trail most likely paralleled the Golden Gate coastline from Ridge Battery to Point

Bonita (present Conzelman Road).®

These two trails, which may have dated back to Coast Miwok days and were the
only connections between Lime Point and Point Bonita, were probably popular
with hikers. A network of other trails most likely crossed the landscape along
valleys and ridges, especially near Sausalito. Although the scenic military reserva-
tion was closed to the public, the Army allowed visitors to enter, as reported by

an engineer in the late 1880s: “The reservation is quite a resort on Sundays and
holidays for parties visiting Sausalito for recreation, and no objection has been
made to its use by well disposed people, but no hunting or shooting is allowed.”%
The public’s demand for access to the headlands was so great that in 1886, citizens
of Sausalito proposed building a road at their own expense between the town and

Lime Point, but Army officials denied the offer.®”

Engineer Camp

While Lime Point Military Reservation did not have a permanent post, it did
have the camp developed for Army engineers that built the original fortifications,
located in the small sheltered valley along the east side of Lime Point Ridge where
it was protected from weather coming off the ocean. The camp had not been
permanently occupied since major construction at Lime Point ceased in 1876.%®
The simple, white-painted clapboarded buildings were arranged informally, most
facing east in line with the slope. The largest building was the two-story lodge

or main quarters, with its full-length front porch looking out over Horseshoe
Cove. Farther up the hill was another quarters, a house with paired gables. The
other buildings were small one-story sheds with gable roofs. A square reservoir
tank uphill from the buildings stored water collected from springs on the adjoin-
ing hillsides. Six round water tanks were added to the system along the southern
side of the camp by ca. 1875. There were most likely no trees or other ornamental

plantings around the buildings during this period.*’

Defensive Works

From the water, the earthwork barbette batteries on the headlands would have
appeared to most passing through the Golden Gate as grass-covered knolls with

saw-tooth profiles, set within the larger expanse of hilly grasslands. The earthen
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parapets, originally planted in oats and barley, had probably naturalized by 1890
with other grasses found in the headlands.” The western-most battery, Battery
Gravelly Beach, was set back from the main ship channel and enjoyed natural
protection from the surrounding valley walls. Its design, a line of twelve gun em-
placements separated by traverse magazines, was the outermost defensive work. In
1890, this battery had the only gun in the headlands, a fifteen-inch Rodman. The

remaining eleven emplacements stood empty.

Cliff and Ridge Batteries were the most visible of the batteries, with their silhou-
ette standing out along the ridge above Lime Point. This exposed location had
been a reason for the use of a covered way, Ridge Battery’s earthen parapet-en-
closed roadway that connected to Cliff Battery. The nine gun emplacements and
four mortars, designed to fortify the narrowest part of the Golden Gate opposite

Fort Point, stood empty in 1890.

Cavallo Battery was the largest of the three, and the only one facing directly onto
San Francisco Bay. The semi-pentagonal shape of the main battery, which resem-
bled the enclosed form of old Third System batteries, was in an exposed location
north of Cavallo Point near Yellow Bluff, at an elevation of approximately fifty
feet above the water, while the outwork stood on Cavallo Point at a slightly lower
elevation. The main work featured an enclosed interior, with a reverse parapet
designed to protect the rear flank. The gun platforms and parapet walls remained
incomplete. The main works’ twelve paired gun emplacements, designed to pro-
tect the inner entrance to the harbor and Horseshoe Bay, stood empty in 1890, as

did the two in the outwork.

Lime Point Fog Signal Station

On the southern-most tip of Lime Point known as Sugar Loaf Rock was the Light-
house Board’s recently completed Lime Point Fog Signal Station, with its complex
of white-washed masonry buildings, including a two-story residence and a one-
story building for the fog signal and steam boilers. This complex was connected

to the Engineer Camp by a railway on the Army road (Moore Road) and a water
flume, presumably a wooden trough. The railway was used to transport coal for
the fog signal’s steam boilers from the engineer wharf, while the flume transported
water for the boilers from several spring-fed water tanks on the hillside above the

Engineer camp.

FORT BARRY LANDSCAPE (DRAWING 1.2)

The Army had no fortifications or other facilities in the west half of the Lime Point
reservation in 1890, aside from a fence that followed the government boundary,
and the incomplete road (Julian Road) that extended over Diablo Ridge toward
Rodeo Valley. The only road into the reservation was the one that ran from Point

Bonita through the Silva ranch to Sausalito (part of present Bobcat Trail through
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Gerbode Valley). Another road or trail began at Rodeo Beach, site of the original
ca. 1855 lighthouse landing, and ran south to the lighthouse reservation. There
were also trails across the Fort Barry landscape, which most likely included one
paralleling the Golden Gate (on or near present alignment of Conzelman Road),
and another from the incomplete road from Fort Baker through Rodeo Valley

(present Julian and Bunker Roads).

Point Bonita Lighthouse Reservation

A four-plank fence that ran from Bonita Cove northwest toward Bird Island north
of Point Bonita marked the boundary of the unofficial forty-four acre lighthouse
reservation.” This area was accessed by the Sausalito road, as well as by two
wharfs on Bonita Cove. The road terminated at the front of the two keepers’
quarters just northeast of the point. These included the original one-story brick
and stucco house built in 1855 that was used as a duplex for the assistant keepers,
and to the west, the larger frame Gothic Revival-style house built in ca. 1875 that
served as the head keeper’s quarters. Both houses were enclosed by white picket

fences. Acrpss the road was a small frame barn, near the fog signal cisterns.

Given the remote location of the light station, the keepers had to maintain gardens
and livestock nearby their dwellings, although the precise location of these is not
known. The keepers also planted non-native ornamentals that may have included
calla lily, agave, narcissus, myoporum, red hot poker, periwinkle, German ivy, alys-

sum, cabbage, and iris.”

By 1890, navigational aids at Point Bonita reflected four decades of development,
although few improvements had been made since the early 1870s. On Bonita
Ridge, the rise along the Pacific southwest of the dwellings, was the first light-
house, which functioned as a daymark topped by a white-painted brick dome in
place of its original lantern. Next to the tower was a small shed built in 1855 to
house the fog bell, which had been removed after the steam fog signal was com-
pleted in 1872 at the tip of Point Bonita. To the north of the old lighthouse tower
was the fog cannon, which remained on or near its original site at the edge of the
cliff, but had been out of use for four decades. A second matching carriage, whose

function is not known, was to its north.”

The facilities on Point Bonita were perched precariously along narrow, rocky
cliffs. Access was by the trail that continued south from the keepers’ houses, cross-
ing a wood truss bridge before passing through a tunnel beneath the highest ridge
on the point. The wooden cliffside walkway that the tunnel replaced no longer
existed, although a slight cut in the rock was still visible. South of the tunnel,

the trail merged with a narrow-gauge railway used to bring coal and other sup-
plies to the fog signal and lighthouse. This railway began at the South Landing on
Bonita Cove, which contained a derrick on a raised timber platform where ships

unloaded cargo. The incline railway, powered by a steam-driven winch, ascended
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the cliff to the top of the ridge, where it continued south on a relatively level grade
to the fog signal, the second on the site. This one-story frame building, with its
narrow steel smokestack, consisted of three parts: a steam boilers building, a coal
room, and quarters for the keeper including a kitchen, living room, water closet,
and pantry. The sixteen-foot long trumpets of the fog signal siren pointed south-
west toward the entrance of the Golden Gate. The slope below this side of the fog
signal had been graded to prevent landslides such as the one that had damaged the
first fog signal at the site in 1874.

Water for the fog signal’s steam boilers was supplied by an intricate system of
pumps and gravity-fed cisterns, pipes, and tanks. The water source was at the head
of the sand gully north of the keepers’ houses. Here a windmill pumped ground
water through pipes that ran southeast to two brick dome cisterns near the old
keeper’s dwelling (duplex). These cisterns regulated water pressure in the pipes
along their hundred-foot drop in elevation to the fog signal station, which was
outfitted with two 12,000-gallon tanks. Domestic water came from another cistern

near the old keeper’s house.

Just north of the fog signal, a concrete walk branched west along a narrow land
bridge to the lighthouse, dominated by its short, sixteen-foot-high tower con-
taining the lantern that had been relocated from the first lighthouse in 1877. The
tower was flanked by two one-story wings, each containing single rooms for oil

storage and workspace.

FORT CRONKHITE LANDSCAPE (DRAWING1.3)

In 1890, the private ranchlands north of Rodeo Lagoon within the later limits of
Fort Cronkhite were primarily open grasslands, divided by the highlands known
as Wolf Ridge. The western terminus of this ridge was a promontory known as
Tennessee Point, named after the wreck of the steamship Tennessee in 1853.
North of Wolf Ridge was a large valley initially known as Elk Valley, but better
known in 1890 as Tennessee Valley. The valley extended northeast, providing one
of the few lowland passages across the interior of the Marin Peninsula from the

more populated eastern shore.

The 540-acre property owned by J. Haggin between Rodeo Lagoon and Wolf
Ridge was occupied in 1890 by tenant dairy rancher Louis Gioli, a Swiss-Italian
immigrant. His ranch included a small complex of buildings, including a hay barn,
house, and sheds, that were built at some point between 1859 and 1885 in the
center of the valley, along a creek that was fed by numerous springs on the adjoin-
ing hillsides. Access was by a ranch road (parts of present Mitchell and Bunker
roads, and Miwok Trail) that connected to the Silva ranch to the east, parallel to
the shoreline of Rodeo Lagoon. There were also fenced-in fields where the Giolis
raised grain. Although much of adjoining Rodeo Beach belonged to the govern-

ment, many called it Jolly Beach, from the pronunciation of the Gioli name. ™
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The northern part of Fort Cronkhite in Tennessee Valley was part of a larger ten-
ant dairy farm within Rancho Sausalito that had been acquired by the Tamalpais
Land and Water Company from Susannah Throckmorton in 1889. The buildings
associated with the dairy ranch were located upvalley, along a stream. These build-
ings were enclosed by fences that continued south into the future Fort Cronkhite
around an agricultural field that was most likely used for growing grain. The only
access to this area was a ranch road (present Tennessee Valley Road) that ran
through the valley and terminated at the ranch buildings. There may have been
foot trails heading north toward Coyote Ridge, the ridge north of Tennessee Val-
ley, and south across Wolf Ridge.
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NOTES

. Plan shows landscape in 1890.

All features shown at approximate location and scale.

Features added during period indicated by date of completion.
Extent of tree and shrub cover is not known due to lack

of documentation.

. Location of fences and roads in Gioli ranch not known.

. Boundaries of TLW Co. leased ranches not known (subdivided
after the end of the period in 1892).

6. White mask indicates limits of Fort Cronkhite study area.
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CHAPTER 3: 1890-1917

3. ENDICOTT-TAFT MODERNIZATION,
1890-1917

The turn of the twentieth century witnessed two extensive modernization pro-
grams for the harbor defenses, and the transformation of the Lime Point Military
Reservation into two separate reservations: Fort Baker in the east half and Fort
Barry in the west. Each of the reservations was developed with gun batteries and
associated fire-control stations, land-side components of submarine defenses,

a practice target range, a Quartermaster area containing support buildings and

a wharf, and a main post with officer quarters, barracks, administration build-

ing, and a hospital around a central parade ground. Along with built features,

the Army introduced non-native trees and groundcover to the headlands during
this period for aesthetic and utilitarian purposes, including Monterey cypress,
blue-gum eucalyptus, and iceplant. While Fort Barry was smaller than Fort Baker,
both featured the same type of defensive works, and their buildings were either

of the same plans or in a similar architectural style. Both also contained unofficial
housing areas near the main posts for civilians and non-commissioned officers. In
addition to size, Fort Barry differed from Fort Baker because it served as the front-
line of defenses, and its rifle (target) range was far larger and was used by Army

units from throughout the West.

This period also saw the enlargement and improvement of navigational aids at
Point Bonita and Lime Point, including establishment of a life-saving station on
Bonita Cove. Because they were on strategic Army land, extensive military devel-

opment occurred on and around the navigational facilities during this period.

In contrast to Forts Baker and Barry, the agricultural landscape within the future

Fort Cronkhite remained largely unchanged during this period except at Tennes-
see Point, a promontory between Rodeo Lagoon and Tennessee Cove. Reflecting
the growing strategic importance of the Pacific coastline, the Army acquired this

land and established an outpost of Fort Barry named Tennessee Point Military

Reservation.

IMPROVENMENTS TO NAVIGATIONAL AIDS

As the Army began implementation of its modernization plans in the 1890s, the
federal government continued to develop its long-standing aids to navigation,
which became increasingly connected with military facilities during this period.
Most of these aids remained under the administration of the Treasury Depart-

ment’s Lighthouse Board, which was renamed the Bureau of Lighthouses in 1910,
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and was also known as the Lighthouse Service. It was joined by another Treasury

Department agency, the U.S. Life-Saving Service, established in 1878. 1

POINT BONITA LIFE-SAVING STATION

In 1895, legislation was introduced in Congress to establish a station of the U. S.
Life-Saving Service at Point Bonita, close to the perilous northern approach to
the Golden Gate. While the Lighthouse Board with its lighthouses and fog signals
served to prevent shipwrecks, the Life-Saving Service provided assistance to ships
in distress, although the agency also helped to alert ships to dangerous condi-
tions.? Congress authorized funds for construction of the Point Bonita Life-Saving
Station in 1898, the third at San Francisco after the Golden Gate and Fort Point
stations established a decade earlier. Originally conceived for construction on the
Pacific coast near Rodeo Beach, the station was instead sited on Bonita Cove, east
of the keepers’ dwellings (fig. 3.1). The Life-Saving Service apparently secured use
of the site, located within the original unofficial lighthouse reservation, through a

lease arrangement with the Army.

The Life-Saving Service contracted with the Thomson Bridge Company in 1899 to
erect a large station building designed in the Shingle style with a prominent turret
that overlooked Bonita Cove and Point Bonita (fig. 3.2). The building also con-
tained offices and living quarters for the life-saving keeper and crew of surfmen.
As part of the same contract, the station was outfitted with a garage building, con-
crete walks, and a cistern. Under a separate contract, the station site was enclosed
by a redwood picket fence, a feature needed to keep out the lighthouse keepers’
livestock and to provide protection from the surrounding sheer cliffs. Soon after
completion of the buildings, the service introduced non-native Monterey cypress
trees, probably the first on the headlands, along the northeastern side of the wind-

swept station site.?

The 1899 Thomson Bridge Company contract also included construction of two
frame boathouses designed to shelter the boats that the surfmen dispatched to
ships in distress. Both had ramps to launch the boats from the elevated boathouses
into the water below. Precariously cut into the cliff next to the lighthouse dock at
the South Landing, Boathouse A was built on Bonita Cove. Boathouse B was built
at the northern end of the sand gully, on the Pacific coast north of Bird Island and
south of Rodeo Beach (fig. 3.3). It was built on post footings set into the sandy

ground.*

By 1910, the Life-Saving Station was considering construction of a new, larger
boathouse to replace the two original boathouses. That year, it stopped using
Boathouse A, which was taken over by the Army and remodeled into a fire-control
station.’ The Life-Saving Station selected a new site below the lighthouse keeper
residences adjacent to a wharf built by Army engineers in 1901 (fig. 3.4). This

new boathouse, a frame building with an iron-track launchway, was designed to
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